
1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 MORGAN, LEWIS &
BOCKIUS LLP 

ATTORNEYS AT LAW

SAN FRANCISCO

MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP
John S. Battenfeld, Bar No. 119513 
300 South Grand Avenue 
Twenty-Second Floor 
Los Angeles, California 90071 
Tel: +1.213.612.2500 
Fax: +1.213.612.2501 
john.battenfeld@morganlewis.com 

MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP 
Andrea Fellion, Bar No. 262278 
One Market 
Spear Street Tower 
San Francisco, California  94105-1596 
Tel: +1.415.442.1000 
Fax: +1.415.442.1001 
andrea.fellion@morganlewis.com 

Attorneys for Defendants 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

SALVADOR GUERRA, individually 
and on behalf of other members of the 
general public similarly situated and on 
behalf of other aggrieved employees 
pursuant to the California Private 
Attorneys General Act, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., an 
unknown business entity; UNITED 
NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., a 
California corporation; UNFI, an 
unknown business entity; and DOES 1 
through 100, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No.

DEFENDANTS UNITED 
NATURAL FOODS, INC. AND 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS 
WEST, INC.’S NOTICE OF 
REMOVAL PURSUANT TO 
THE CLASS ACTION 
FAIRNESS ACT (“CAFA”)  

[28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, 1446, 
AND 1453] 

5:18-cv-02382
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TO THE CLERK OF THE CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA AND 

PLAINTIFF AND HIS COUNSEL OF RECORD: 

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE THAT Defendants United Natural Foods, Inc. 

(“UNFI”), United Natural Foods West, Inc. (“UNFI West”) (collectively, 

“Defendants” or “UNFI”), by and through their counsel, remove the above-entitled 

action to this Court from the Superior Court of the State of California, County of 

Riverside, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332, 1441, 1446, and 1453.  This removal is 

based on the following grounds:   

I. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND. 

1. On September 13, 2018, Plaintiff Salvador Guerra (“Plaintiff”) filed a 

class and representative action complaint in the Superior Court of the State of 

California, County of Riverside, entitled Salvador Guerra, individually and on 

behalf of other members of the general public similarly situated and on behalf of 

other aggrieved employees pursuant to the California Private Attorneys General 

Act v. United Natural Foods, Inc., an unknown business entity; United Natural 

Foods West, Inc., a California corporation; UNFI, an unknown business entity; and 

Does 1 through 100, inclusive, Case No. RIC1818751 (the “Complaint”). 

2. On October 9, 2018, Plaintiff served copies of the Summons and 

Complaint on the registered agent for Defendants.  A copy of Plaintiff’s Summons 

and Complaint as served on Defendants is attached hereto as Exhibit A.  Exhibit A 

constitutes all the pleadings, process, and orders served upon Defendants in the 

Superior Court action. 

3. Plaintiff seeks to represent the following class: “All current and former 

hourly-paid or non-exempt employees who worked for any of the Defendants 

within the State of California at any time during the period from four years 

preceding the filing of this Complaint to final judgment.”  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶ 15.) 

4. Plaintiff alleges the following violations of the California Labor Code 

in eleven causes of action against Defendants: (1) failure to pay all overtime wages; 
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(2) failure to provide meal periods; (3) failure to provide rest periods; (4) failure to 

pay minimum wages; (5) failure to pay all wages due at the time of termination of 

employment; (6) failure to pay all wages during employment; (7) failure to provide 

complete and accurate wage statements; (8) failure to keep requisite payroll 

records; (9) failure to reimburse business expenses; (10) violations of the unfair 

competition law; and (11) Private Attorneys General Act penalties.  (Exh. A, 

Compl. ¶¶ 56 - 141.) 

II. REMOVAL IS TIMELY. 

5. Because this Notice of Removal is filed within thirty days of service of 

the Complaint on October 9, 2018, it is timely under 28 U.S.C. §§ 1446(b)(3) and 

1453.  No previous Notice of Removal has been filed or made with this Court for 

the relief sought herein. 

III. THIS COURT HAS ORIGINAL SUBJECT MATTER JURISDICTION 
UNDER CAFA. 

6. Plaintiff brings this action as a putative class action under California 

Code Civ. Proc. § 382.  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶ 1.)1  Removal based upon Class Action 

Fairness Act (“CAFA”) diversity jurisdiction is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1441, 1446, and 1453 because: (i) diversity of citizenship exists between at least 

one putative class member and one Defendant, (ii) the aggregate number of putative 

class members in all proposed classes is 100 or greater; and (iii) the amount placed 

in controversy by the Complaint exceeds, in the aggregate, $5 million, exclusive of 

interest and costs.  28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d)(2) & (d)(5)(B), 1453.  Although 

Defendants deny Plaintiff’s factual allegations and deny that Plaintiff—or the class 

he purports to represent—is entitled to the relief requested, based on Plaintiff’s 

allegations in the Complaint and prayer for relief, all requirements for jurisdiction 

under CAFA have been met in this case. 

1 Defendants deny, and reserve the right to contest at the appropriate time, that this 
action can properly proceed as a class action. Defendants further deny Plaintiff’s 
claims and deny that he can recover any damages. 
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A. UNFI Is Not a California Citizen, and Minimal Diversity of 
Citizenship Exists. 

7. To satisfy CAFA’s diversity requirement, a party seeking removal 

need only show that minimal diversity exists, that is, that one putative class 

member is a citizen of a state different from any defendant.  28 U.S.C. 

§ 1332(d)(2); United Steel, Paper & Forestry, Rubber, Mfg., Energy, Allied Indus. 

& Serv. Workers Int’l Union, AFL-CIO, CLC v. Shell Oil Co., 602 F.3d 1087, 1090-

91 (9th Cir. 2010) (finding that to achieve its purposes, CAFA provides expanded 

original diversity jurisdiction for class actions meeting the minimal diversity 

requirement set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)). “An individual is a citizen of the 

state in which he is domiciled.” Boon v. Allstate Ins. Co., 229 F. Supp. 2d 1016, 

1019 (C.D. Cal. 2002) (citing Kanter v. Warner-Lambert Co., 265 F.3d 853, 857 

(9th Cir. 2001)).   

8. In his Complaint, Plaintiff alleges that “Plaintiff SALVADOR 

GUERRA is an individual residing in the State of California.”  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶ 

5.)  Moreover, Plaintiff has brought claims on behalf of putative class members 

residing in California.  (Id. at ¶ 15.)  He alleges that “[a]t all relevant times set forth 

herein, Defendants employed Plaintiff and other persons as hourly-paid or non-

exempt employees within the State of California, County of Riverside.”  (Id. at ¶ 

26.)  The Complaint alleges that Plaintiff has worked in California since at least 

April 2016.  For purposes of diversity of citizenship jurisdiction, citizenship is 

determined by the individual’s domicile at the time that the lawsuit is filed.  

Armstrong v. Church of Scientology Int’l, 243 F.3d 546, 546 (9th Cir. 2000) (citing 

Lew v. Moss, 797 F.2d 747, 750 (9th Cir. 1986)).  Evidence of continuing residence 

creates a presumption of domicile.  Washington v. Hovensa LLC, 652 F.3d 340, 395 

(3d Cir. 2011).  Therefore, Plaintiff is a citizen of California for diversity 

jurisdiction purposes.  Thus, at least one putative class member is a citizen of 

California for diversity jurisdiction purposes.  Plaintiff does not allege that he is a 

citizen of Delaware or Rhode Island.  (Id.) 
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9. For diversity purposes, a corporation is deemed to be a citizen of any 

state in which it has been incorporated and of any state where it has its principal 

place of business.  28 U.S.C. § 1332(c)(1).  UNFI is organized under the laws of 

Delaware.  (Declaration of Lynn Kassab in Support of Defendants’ Notice of 

Removal (“Kassab Decl.”), ¶ 3.)  UNFI’s “principal place of business” is the place 

where its officers direct, control, and coordinate the corporation’s activities.  Hertz 

Corp. v. Friend, 559 U.S. 77, 92-93 (2010).  UNFI’s corporate headquarters is in 

the State of Rhode Island, as are the majority of its corporate books and records and 

its executive and administrative functions (including but not limited to operations, 

corporate finance, accounting, human resources, payroll, marketing, legal, and 

information systems).  (Kassab Decl. ¶ 4.)  In addition, UNFI’s chief executive 

officer, chief financial officer, and corporate secretary, as well as other corporate 

executives work from the Rhode Island headquarters and direct, control, and 

coordinate UNFI’s corporate activities from Rhode Island.  (Kassab Decl. ¶ 5.)  

Accordingly, UNFI is a citizen of Delaware and Rhode Island for diversity 

jurisdiction purposes.  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(10). 

10. Therefore, based on the Complaint, at least one member of the putative 

class is a citizen of a state different than one Defendant.  As a result, diversity 

jurisdiction exists under CAFA.  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A) (requiring only 

“minimal diversity” under which “any member of a class of plaintiffs is a citizen of 

a State different from any Defendant”). 

B. The Putative Class Has More Than 100 Members. 

11. Based on Plaintiff’s definition of the putative class, it contains more 

than 100 members.  (Declaration of Anne-Marie Mosher in Support of Defendants’ 

Notice of Removal (“Mosher Decl.”) ¶ 4.)  Plaintiff’s putative class includes all 

non-exempt employees who have worked in California at any time beginning four 

(4) years prior to the filing of the Complaint, and includes approximately 3,925 

current and former such employees.  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶ 15; Mosher Decl. ¶ 4.) 
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C. The Amount In Controversy Exceeds Five Million Dollars.  

12. Pursuant to CAFA, the claims of the individual members in a class 

action are aggregated to determine if the amount in controversy exceeds $5 million, 

exclusive of interest and costs.  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(6).  Because Plaintiff does not 

expressly plead a specific amount of class damages, a removing party need only 

show that it is more likely than not that the amount in controversy exceeds $5 

million.  See Singer v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 116 F.3d 373, 376 (9th Cir. 

1997). 

13. Defendants’ burden to establish the amount in controversy is the 

preponderance of the evidence standard.  Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co., LLC 

v. Owens, 135 S. Ct. 547 (2014); see also Jordan v. Nationstar Mortg., LLC, 781 

F.3d 1178, 1183 (9th Cir. 2015) (citing Dart Cherokee for the proposition that there 

is no anti-removal presumption against CAFA cases).  A removing party seeking to 

invoke CAFA jurisdiction “need include only a plausible allegation that the amount 

in controversy exceeds the jurisdictional threshold.”  Dart Cherokee, 135 S. Ct. at 

554.  “If a federal court is uncertain about whether ‘all matters in controversy’ in a 

purported class action ‘do not in the aggregate exceed the sum or value of 

$5,000,000,’ the court should err in favor of exercising jurisdiction over the case.”  

Senate Judiciary Report, S. R. No. 109-14, at 42 (2005) (citation omitted). 

14. A removing defendant is “not required to comb through its records to 

identify and calculate the exact frequency of violations.”  Oda, et al. v. Gucci 

America, Inc., et al., Nos. 2:14-cv-7468-SVW (JPRx) and 2:14-cv-7469-SVW 

(JPRx), 2015 WL 93335, at *5 (C.D. Cal. Jan. 7, 2015); Sanchez v. Russell Sigler, 

Inc., No. CV 15-01350-AB (PLAx), 2015 WL 12765359, at *2 (C.D. Cal. April 28, 

2015) (“[A] removing defendant is not obligated to research, state and prove the 

Plaintiffs’ claims for damages.”) (citation omitted); see also LaCross v. Knight 

Transp. Inc., 775 F.3d 1200, 1203 (9th Cir. 2015) (rejecting Plaintiffs’ argument for 

remand based on the contention that the class may not be able to prove all amounts 
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claimed: “Plaintiffs are conflating the amount in controversy with the amount of 

damages ultimately recoverable.”); Ibarra v. Manheim Invs., Inc., 775 F.3d 1193, 

1198 n.1 (9th Cir. 2015) (in alleging the amount in controversy, Defendants “are 

not stipulating to damages suffered, but only estimating the damages in 

controversy”).  The ultimate inquiry is what amount is put “in controversy” by the 

plaintiff’s complaint, not what a defendant will actually owe.  LaCross, 775 F.3d at 

1202 (internal citation omitted) (explaining that courts are directed “to first look to 

the complaint in determining the amount in controversy”). 

15. Under Dart Cherokee, a removing defendant is not required to submit 

evidence in support of its removal allegations.  Roa v. TS Staffing Servs, Inc., No. 

2:14-cv-08424-ODW (MRW), 2015 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 7442, at *4-5 (C.D. Cal. 

2015).  However, as detailed below, Defendants have both plausibly alleged and 

established by a preponderance of the evidence that the amount in controversy 

exceeds $5 million and the Court has jurisdiction pursuant to CAFA.  As discussed 

below, when the claims of the putative class members in the present case are 

aggregated, their claims put into controversy over $5 million in potential damages.  

28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2). 

16. Although Defendants deny Plaintiff’s factual allegations and deny that 

he or the putative class he seeks to represent are entitled to any damages 

whatsoever, Plaintiff’s allegations and prayer for relief have “more likely than not” 

put into controversy an amount that exceeds the $5 million threshold when 

aggregating the claims of the putative class members as set forth in 28 U.S.C.  § 

1332(d)(6).2

2 This Notice of Removal discusses the nature and amount of damages placed in 
controversy by Plaintiff’s Complaint.  Defendants’ reference to specific damage 
amounts are provided solely for the purpose of establishing that the amount in 
controversy is more likely than not in excess of the jurisdictional minimum.  
Defendants maintain that each of Plaintiff’s claims is without merit and that 
Defendants are not liable to Plaintiff.  No statement or reference contained herein 
shall constitute an admission of liability or a suggestion that Plaintiff will or could 
actually recover any damages based upon the allegations contained in the Complaint 
or otherwise.  “The amount in controversy is simply an estimate of the total amount 
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17. As explained above, Plaintiff seeks to represent a putative class of 

approximately 3,925 members.  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶ 15.; Mosher Decl. ¶ 4.)  

Defendants’ representative has reviewed relevant data concerning the putative class 

which Plaintiff seeks to represent, including Plaintiff himself.  (Mosher Decl. ¶ 3.)  

Based on the allegations in the Complaint, Plaintiff has put more than $5 million in 

controversy as set forth below, and CAFA removal is appropriate.  (Id. ¶¶ 3-6.) 

1. Plaintiff’s Late Final Wage Claim Alone Puts Nearly Five 
Million Dollars in Controversy. 

18. Plaintiff alleges that Plaintiff and the other class members did not 

receive all wages owed to them at the time of their discharge or resignation.  (Exh. 

A, Compl. ¶ 40.)  Plaintiff alleges that he and the other class members are entitled 

to waiting time penalties pursuant to Labor Code Section 203.  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶ 

96.)  Plaintiff claims that Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to 

recover various wages they have not been paid.  (Id. ¶¶ 64, 88.)  Plaintiff also 

alleges that “[d]uring the relevant time period, Defendants intentionally and 

willfully failed to pay Plaintiff and the other class members who are no longer 

employed by Defendants their wages, earned and unpaid, within seventy-two (72) 

hours of their leaving Defendants’ employ.”  (Id. ¶¶ 93, 105.)  The Complaint seeks 

“statutory penalty wages for each day they were not paid,” up to the 30 day 

maximum penalty under Labor Code Section 203.  (Id. ¶ 96.) 

19. Of the 3,925 total putative class members, approximately 1,178 

California employees terminated their employment during the three year limitations 

period applicable to a Section 203 penalties claim.  (Mosher Decl. ¶ 4.)  These 

terminated employees’ average final hourly rate of pay during the class period was 

approximately $17.35 per hour, and Plaintiff alleges that the putative class members 

worked at least eight hours per day.  (Id; Compl. ¶ 33.)  If, as Plaintiff alleges, these 

terminated employees are still owed unpaid wages, the Complaint seeks a full 30 

in dispute, not a prospective assessment of [Defendants’] liability.”  Lewis v. Verizon 
Communs., Inc., 627 F.3d 395, 400 (9th Cir. 2010). 
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days of waiting time penalties stemming from these unpaid wages for each 

employee who was terminated more than 30 days ago.  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶¶ 96, 

105.)  The Complaint does not allege that all overtime and minimum wages owed 

have been paid to these employees, and indeed seeks those wages as damages.  See 

Ford v. CEC Entm’t, Inc., 2014 WL 3377990 (N.D. Cal. 2014) (“Assuming a 100% 

violation rate is thus reasonably grounded in the complaint . . . [b]ecause no 

averment in the complaint supports an inference that these sums were ever paid.”).  

As such, the Complaint puts in controversy Labor Code Section 203 penalties of 

approximately $4,164.00 per terminated employee ($17.35 x 8 x 30), or 

$4,905,192.00 in the aggregate ($4,164.00 x 1,178). 

2. Plaintiff’s Wage Statement Claim Puts at Least an Additional 
$2.8 Million in Controversy. 

20. Plaintiff also alleges that Defendants failed to provide accurate, 

itemized wage statements.  (See Plaintiff’s Seventh Cause of Action in the 

Complaint.)  Specifically, Plaintiff alleges that Defendants “intentionally and 

willfully failed to provide Plaintiff and the other class members with complete and 

accurate wage statements.”  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶ 105.)  Plaintiff states that “[t]he 

deficiencies include, but are not limited to: the failure to include the total number of 

hours worked by Plaintiff and the other class members.”  (Id.)  Thus, the Complaint 

alleges that all wage statements provided to class members were deficient. 

21. Labor Code Section 226(e) provides that an employee suffering injury 

due to an employer’s failure to provide a compliant wage statement is entitled to 

recover fifty dollars ($50) for the initial pay period in which a violation occurs and 

one hundred dollars ($100) per employee for each violation in a subsequent pay 

period, not to exceed an aggregate penalty of four thousand dollars ($4,000), plus 

reasonable attorney’s fees and costs.  Cal. Labor Code § 226(e); Garnett v. ADT 

LLC, 74 F. Supp. 3d 1332, 1335-36 (E.D. Cal. 2015) (Amaral’s holding regarding 

“subsequent” violations does not apply to Labor Code § 226); Lucas v. Michael 

Kors (USA), Inc., 2018 WL 2146403, at *8 (C.D. Cal. 2018) (proper to “apply 
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section 226(e)(1) penalties directly as the statute reads—$50 for the initial pay 

period, and $100 for each violation in a subsequent pay period.”).  In line with the 

statute, Plaintiff seeks “the greater of their actual damages caused by Defendants’ 

failure to comply with California Labor Code section 226(a), or an aggregate 

penalty not exceeding four thousand dollars per employee.”  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶ 

108.)   

22. Here, during the relevant one year statute of limitations for a claim for 

Labor Code Section 226 statutory penalties, putative class members were provided 

wage statements on a weekly basis.  (Mosher Decl. ¶ 5.)  During the one-year 

period of September 13, 2017 to September 13, 2018, UNFI issued wage statements 

53 times, and wage statement penalties would cap at the $4,000 maximum per 

employee after 41 wage statements per employee.  (Id. ¶ 6.)  During this period, the 

highest number of weekly wage statements UNFI issued to putative class members 

was 1,824 and the lowest number was 1,085.  (Id.)  Even assuming that UNFI 

issued only 1,085 wage statements per week to putative class members during this 

one year limitations period, this claim puts $4,340,000 in controversy (1,085 x 

$4,000 = $4,340,000).  (Id.) 

23. In addition to these amounts, Plaintiff’s First and Fourth Causes of 

Action allege that Defendants failed to pay minimum wage and overtime to 

Plaintiff and the other class members.  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶¶ 56-64, 85-90, Prayer for 

Relief ¶¶ 5-9, 23-29.)  Plaintiff’s Second and Third Causes of Action for failure to 

provide meal periods and failure to authorize and permit rest periods, allege that 

Plaintiff and the other class members are owed Labor Code Section 226.7 premium 

pay for these alleged violations. (Exh. A, Compl. ¶¶ 65-84, Prayer for Relief ¶¶ 10-

22.)  Plaintiff’s Ninth Cause of Action alleges that Defendants failed to reimburse 

Plaintiff and the other class members for necessary business-related expenses. (Exh. 

A, Compl. ¶¶ 115-118, Prayer for Relief ¶¶ 48-52.)  Plaintiff’s Tenth Cause of 

Action alleges violations of the unfair competition law for all these claimed 
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violations, and seeks restitution for a four year period.  These causes of action and 

prayers put additional amounts in controversy, but were pleaded without sufficient 

specificity to allow Defendants to calculate the minimum wage, overtime, premium 

pay, and restitution amounts placed in controversy. 

3. Plaintiff’s Request for Attorneys’ Fees Increases the Amount in 
Controversy. 

24. Plaintiff seeks to recover attorneys’ fees for various claims.  (Exh. A, 

Compl. ¶¶ 64, 88, 125, 139, 141, Prayer for Relief, ¶¶ 8, 15, 27, 51, 59.)  Attorneys’ 

fees are properly included in determining the amount in controversy.    See Fritsch 

v. Swift Transportation Co. of Arizona, LLC, 899 F.3d 785, 794 (9th Cir. 2018) 

(“Because the law entitles [the plaintiff] to an award of attorneys’ fees if he is 

successful, such future attorneys’ fees are at stake in the litigation, and must be 

included in the amount in controversy.”). 

25. Although Defendants deny Plaintiff’s claim for attorneys’ fees, for 

purposes of removal, the Ninth Circuit uses a benchmark rate of twenty-five percent 

of the potential damages as the amount of attorneys’ fees.  In re Quintus Sec. Litig., 

148 F. Supp. 2d 967, 973 (N.D. Cal. 2001) (benchmark for attorneys’ fees is 25% 

of the common fund).  Courts therefore include a practical 25% fee award in the 

amount in controversy.  See, e.g., Sanchez v. Russell Sigler, Inc., 2015 WL 

12765359, at *7 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 28, 2015); Molnar v. 1-800-Flowers.com, Inc., No. 

08-CV-05420-CAS-OJCx, 2009 WL 481618, *5 (C.D. Cal. Feb. 23, 2009) 

(“Applying a 25% fee estimate to the $2,931,794.63 compensatory damages figure. 

. . yields an attorneys’ fee award of $732,948.65.  Therefore, the Court includes this 

amount in determining the amount in controversy.”); Tompkins v. Basic Research 

LLC, No. CIV-S-08244-LKK-DAD, 2008 WL 1808316 at *4 (E.D. Cal. Apr. 22, 

2008) (“[T]he Ninth Circuit has established that 25% of the common fund is a fair 

estimate of attorneys’ fees.  This therefore adds $500,000 to the amount in 

controversy.” (internal citations omitted)).

26. Defendants note that the inclusion of attorneys’ fees would add at least 
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another $2,311,298 to the amount in controversy (25% of $9,245,192 [$4,905,192 + 

$4,340,000]), bringing the total amount in controversy to at least $11,556,490.  

Even if the Court finds that the twenty-five percent benchmark rate does not apply 

in this particular context, the Court may determine the amount of attorneys’ fees at 

stake, taking into account statutory fee shifting requirements.  See Fritsch, 899 F.3d 

at 796 (“Accordingly, we leave the calculation of the amount of the attorneys’ fees 

at stake to the district court on remand.”).  Regardless of the amount this Court 

ultimately determines, Defendants already have demonstrated by a preponderance 

of the evidence that the amount in controversy exceeds $5,000,000, and removal 

therefore is appropriate. 

D. CAFA’s Exceptions to Removal Do Not Apply. 

27. CAFA’s “home-state” and “local controversy” exceptions to do not 

apply to this removal.  The “home state” exception prevents CAFA removal only 

when all “primary defendants” are citizens of the state in which the action was 

filed.  28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(4)(B); Phillips v. Kaiser Found. Health Plan, Inc., 953 

F. Supp. 2d 1078, 1086 (N.D. Cal. 2011) (“[Home state] test requires that all 

‘primary defendants’ be residents of the same state in which the action is filed.”)    

Here, Plaintiff brought all claims in the Complaint against UNFI and UNFI West, 

seeking damages against both without distinction.  (Exh. A, Compl. ¶¶ 26-55, 

Prayer for Relief, ¶¶ 5-60) (alleging violations against both defendants equally).  

Plaintiff alleges that the acts of each Defendant are attributable to the other 

Defendant and that “Defendants, jointly and severally, employed Plaintiff . . . .”  

(Exh. A, Compl. ¶ 10, 27).  Because Plaintiff apportions liability equally between 

Defendants, UNFI is a “real target” of the lawsuit and is a primary defendant in this 

case.  Vodenichar v. Halcon Energy Properties, Inc., 733 F.3d 497, 506 (3d Cir. 

2013) (finding that all defendants were “primary defendants” when the plaintiff 

appeared to apportion liability equally among them); Harrington v. Mattel, Inc., 

No. C07-05110 MJJ, 2007 WL 4556920, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 20, 2007) (holding 

Case 5:18-cv-02382-VAP-SHK   Document 1   Filed 11/08/18   Page 12 of 14   Page ID #:12



12 

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28 
MORGAN, LEWIS &

BOCKIUS LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW

SAN FRANCISCO

that Mattel, Inc. and its wholly owned subsidiary, Fisher-Price, Inc., were both 

“primary defendants”).  UNFI is not a citizen of California, the state where this 

action was originally filed, and so the home state exception to CAFA removal does 

not apply.  (Kassab Decl. ¶¶ 3-5.) 

28. The “local controversy” exception to CAFA jurisdiction also does not 

apply because during the three-year period prior to the filing of this action, more 

than one “class action has been filed asserting the same or similar factual 

allegations against any of the defendants on behalf of the same or other persons . . . 

.”  See 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(4)(A); see also Chalian v. CVS Pharmacy, Inc., No. 

CV1608979ABAGRX, 2017 WL 1377589, at *3 (C.D. Cal. Apr. 11, 2017) 

(holding that the local controversy exception did not apply where similar class 

action lawsuits had been filed against Defendants in the past three years).  On June 

19, 2018, Plaintiffs Christopher Billington and Ronald Cooksey filed a complaint in 

Sacramento County Superior Court which asserted similar factual allegations 

against Defendants on behalf of the same or other persons.  See Exhibit B, 

Christopher Billington and Ronald Cooksey, on behalf of themselves and all others 

similarly situated, and on behalf of the general public, v. United Natural Foods, 

Inc.; United Natural Foods West, Inc.; and DOES 1-100, Eastern District of 

California, Case No. 2:18-cv-02082-TLN (Exh. B; 28 U.S.C. 1332(d)(4)(A)(ii).  

Plaintiffs Billington and Cooksey also seek to represent a putative class of all non-

exempt, hourly workers of Defendants in California and assert claims, including 

failure to pay overtime and straight time wages, failure to authorize and provide 

meal and rest breaks, failure to provide itemized wage statements, failure to timely 

pay wages due at the termination of employment, and unfair business practices 

under California law.  (Class Action Complaint ¶¶ 46, 74-150.)  Further, Cortez v. 

United Natural Foods, Inc. was also filed during the three-year period prior to the 

filing of this action and alleges many of the same class claims, including overtime 

claims, on behalf of non-exempt California drivers who are included in putative 
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class in this action, and alleges a wage statement class claim on behalf of all 

California employees.  See Exhibit C, Richard B. Cortez, on behalf of himself, and 

others similarly situated v. United Natural Foods, Inc.; United Natural Foods West, 

Inc.; and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, Northern District of California, Case No. 

5:18-CV-04603-BLF (Class Action Complaint ¶¶ 1, 5.).  Therefore, the local 

controversy exception does not apply.  (Exh. B ¶ 1, Exh. C ¶ 5, Compl. ¶ 15.) 

IV. VENUE 

29. This action was originally filed in the Superior Court for the County of 

Riverside.  Initial venue is therefore proper in this district, pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 

1441(a), because it encompasses the county in which this action has been pending. 

V. NOTICE 

30. Defendants will promptly serve this Notice of Removal on all parties 

and will promptly file a copy of this Notice of Removal with the clerk of the state 

court in which the action is pending, as required under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d). 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Based on the foregoing, Defendants request that this action be removed to 

this Court.  If any question arises as to the propriety of the removal of this action, 

Defendants respectfully request the opportunity to present a brief and oral argument 

in support of its position that this case is subject to removal. 

Dated: November 8, 2018 MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCKIUS LLP

By    /s/ John S. Battenfeld
John S. Battenfeld 
Andrea Fellion 

Attorneys for Defendants 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.
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Service of Process
Transmittal
10/09/2018
CT Log Number 534197375

TO: Jill Sutton
United Natural Foods, Inc.
313 Iron Horse Way
Providence, RI 02908-5637

RE: Process Served in California

FOR: United Natural Foods, Inc.  (Domestic State: DE)

Page 1 of  2 / BR

Information displayed on this transmittal is for CT
Corporation's record keeping purposes only and is provided to
the recipient for quick reference. This information does not
constitute a legal opinion as to the nature of action, the
amount of damages, the answer date, or any information
contained in the documents themselves. Recipient is
responsible for interpreting said documents and for taking
appropriate action. Signatures on certified mail receipts
confirm receipt of package only, not contents.

ENCLOSED ARE COPIES OF LEGAL PROCESS RECEIVED BY THE STATUTORY AGENT OF THE ABOVE COMPANY AS FOLLOWS:
    
TITLE OF ACTION: Salvador Guerra, etc., Pltf. vs. United Natural Foods, Inc., etc., et al., Dfts.

DOCUMENT(S) SERVED: Summons, Complaint, Cover Sheet, Instructions, Certificate, Notice(s),

COURT/AGENCY: Riverside County - Superior Court - Riverside, CA
Case # RIC1818751

NATURE OF ACTION: Employee Litigation - Violation of California Labor Code 510 and 1193

ON WHOM PROCESS WAS SERVED: C T Corporation System, Los Angeles, CA

DATE AND HOUR OF SERVICE: By Process Server on 10/09/2018 at 14:12

JURISDICTION SERVED : California

APPEARANCE OR ANSWER DUE: Within 30 days after service (Document(s) may contain additional answer dates)

ATTORNEY(S) / SENDER(S): Edwin Aiwazian
Lawyers for Justice APC
410 WEST ARDEN AVENUE
SUITE 203
GLENDALE, CA 91203
818-265-1020

ACTION ITEMS: SOP Papers with Transmittal, via  UPS Next Day Air , 1ZX212780138732212

Image SOP

Email Notification,  Lynn Kassab  lkassab@unfi.com

Email Notification,  Jason Tardiff  jtardiff@unfi.com

Email Notification,  Jeffrey Shapiro  jshapiro@unfi.com

Email Notification,  Kristin Andreozzi  kandreozzi@unfi.com

Email Notification,  Nicholas Leitzes  nleitzes@unfi.com

Email Notification,  Stephanie Soto  ssoto@unfi.com

Email Notification,  Jesse Clark  jcclark@unfi.com

Email Notification,  Michaela Connors Mare  mconnorsmare@unfi.com
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Service of Process
Transmittal
10/09/2018
CT Log Number 534197375

TO: Jill Sutton
United Natural Foods, Inc.
313 Iron Horse Way
Providence, RI 02908-5637

RE: Process Served in California

FOR: United Natural Foods, Inc.  (Domestic State: DE)

Page 2 of  2 / BR

Information displayed on this transmittal is for CT
Corporation's record keeping purposes only and is provided to
the recipient for quick reference. This information does not
constitute a legal opinion as to the nature of action, the
amount of damages, the answer date, or any information
contained in the documents themselves. Recipient is
responsible for interpreting said documents and for taking
appropriate action. Signatures on certified mail receipts
confirm receipt of package only, not contents.

SIGNED: C T Corporation System
ADDRESS: 818 West Seventh Street

Los Angeles, CA 90017
TELEPHONE: 213-337-4615
 
DOCKET HISTORY:

DOCUMENT(S) SERVED: DATE AND HOUR OF SERVICE: TO: CT LOG NUMBER:

Letter By Certified Mail on 06/06/2018 at
14:37 postmarked on 06/04/2018

Jill Sutton
United Natural Foods, Inc.

533472889
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Case 5:18-cv-02382-VAP-SHK   Document 1-1   Filed 11/08/18   Page 3 of 42   Page ID #:17



SUMMONS 
(CITACION JUDICL4L) 

NOTICE TO DEFENDANT: 
4WSQ Al.. DEMANDADO); 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., an unknown business entity; 
"Additiobal Parties Attachment Form is attached." 

YOU ARE BEING SUED BY PLAINTIFF: 
(1..? ErA DEM.4NDANOO EL DEMANDANTE): 

SALVADOR GUERRA, individually, "Additional Pattiel Attaclunent 
Form is attached." 

FOR GOURTUSR ONLY 
(SOLO pMA use ow ccnrw 

FOLIE© 
RNIA  

SEP 18 2018 
L. VILLANUE%J, 

NOIJOSI YOU have been sued. The court may decide against you without your being heard Wilass you mspone YJUIWI au oays. naa ore merniaaon 
below. 

You have 30 CALENDAR DAYS after this summons and legal papers are served on you to file a wrItten response at this court and have a copy 
served on the pialniltA letter or phone call will not protect you. Yourwiltten response must be is proper legal faint If you want the court to hear your 
case. There may be a cowl form that you can use for your response. You can find these court bins and more Information at the California Courts 
Online se044elp Center ( nv.ouf gow%elThe), your county law Ilbiaty, or the courthouse nearest you. If you cannot pay the fifing fee, ask 
the court cleric (era fee waiver feral. If you do not IRe your response an time, you may lose the case by default and yourwages. money. and property 

Than are ether legal reqidremonis. You may want to call an attorney rIght away. If you do not know an attorney, you may want to call an attorney 
referral set If you cannot afford an attorney, you may be elgibla for free legal services from a rtonirrofit legal services program. You can locate 
these nonprofit groups at the CalifornIa Legal Services Web site (mntclan*eceliibmiaerg), tire California Courts Online Self.Help Center 
(wrvwcowfWaca.goWselflrop), or by contacting your local court or county bar association. NOTE: The court has a statutory lien for waIved fees and 
costs on any settlement or arbitration award 01510.000 Of more In a dvii case. The court's Een must be paid before the court Will dismiss the case. 
AV23011.0 ban demaSade. Sine responde dune., dose d1a to cotta puede deoldiron eta contra sin escucliarsu versiOn. Lea Is L.*nnaddn a 

None 300/AS OECALEfti0AR10dospuds do quo to enfmguen oslo citation ypapefts legates pars pieseS tine respuesta par escdlo an  asia 
carte yhocer qua so antsuguo usa cqrle of domandanfa Line cade a ama ilamade teftfonfto no to pzotegen. Si' veapuaste per ensUe lions quo asia 
or, lbimalo legal correcfo sldesaa quo pmcesen sat case on Ia cotta Es poslb!e quo hayo am (On,mlado qua catedpuada urpata tutospuesfa 
Puode encOntr5teetostcflntdarfOs do Is cotta yrnOs ln(onnacldn an at Cenbo do A$ida do [as Castes S CalifornIa iwgw.sueoItota4ot9, on to 
Mhllninrn tin taunt tin a,ndnth, a an in W. non in austin .nA e JTht Slain auntie nnenrla cuote S amsenfadda. dUo alsecrntado do to cotta 
qua to dO tin (onnulado do oxenctdn do page do czaetos. Slnoprvsentasufaspuestsa 

raniondabre quo llamea in, aboyauo Inmodlotamento. Sine conocco us ahagado. puadoffamaro tin serifole do 
rgera on obogado, asposiNe quo cuna can los requisites pars obtonersemlcfoslegalae gratultos do tin 
as do lucia Pueda encanlrarestos gropes ski iso; do lucia an of aUto web do California Loyal seMces, 
intro do Ayuda do /as Codas do California, nsucorteagov) oponlOndoso an conlaclo can 10 caste eel 
Par lejc Is code hone clerscho a redamarlas cuotos ylos costos exenios per bnponerun gravemon sabre 

mOo do velorseclbtda media rile on ecuordo o one cantosfOp do etb,bJo an on case do dencho civiL flene quo 
do quo Is coda puoda dosocharel case. 

The name and address of the court is: SASS Kumwm— 
(91 

 

do Is  coda es) Riverside County Superior Court 18 1 87 5 
Riverside, California 92501 

The name, address, and telephone number of plaintiffs attorney, or plaintiff without on attorney, Is: 
(El sombre, Ia directiOn jp elnOmwo S te101ono del abogedo del demandente, ode! demandaiito quo no lane ebogado, as): 

Edwin Aiwazian, 410 Arden Ave., Suite 203, Glendale, CA 91203; Telephone (818) 265-1020 

Clerk, by ,Deputy 

ortega do eats citation use elfonnularlo Proof of Service of Summons, (POS-olq 

NOTICE TO THE PERSON SERVED: You are served 

1] as an Individual defendant. 

) as the person sued under the fictitious name of (spac11j4: 

. (1A on behf* (5p0d84*J)Jfl69 VAIL? alt- f°A tat, vjwv.&' } 
under CCP 416.10 (corporation) CC? 416.60 (mInor) 

C] CC? 41620 (defunct corporation) j CC? 416.10 (consorvstee) 

CCP 41 6.40 (assocIation or partnership) II CC? 416.90 (authorIzed person) 

C] other (epecifli): 
4. by personal delivery an (data): 

lantafi 
fcftCflnnre5gli2a455 
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SIIORT1ITL CASENWHIM E 
Guerrays.UnitodNathra1Foods,ko.,etat I RIC. 

- -- —. 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR USE 
+ This form may be used as an attathment to any summons If space does not permit the listing of an parties on His summons. 
4 If this attachment Is used. Insert the following statement In the plaIntiff or defendant box an the summáns: °Mdillonal Parties 

Attachment form Is attachedf 

List additional parties (Check wiSp one box. Use a separate page (orcach fjpe ofparty.); 

CI PlaIntIFf 0 Defendant [ cross.compleinant  D Cross.Defendanl 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., a California corporation; UNFI, an unknown business 
entity; and DOES I through 100. InclusIve, 

Page 1 or •_j__ 

Faa6fttMnz7Uso ADDrnOPLAI. PARTIES ATTACHMENT airs CWJtCIW* 
Attachment to Summons 
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SUM-200(A) 

I SHaRI TITLE: CASE MIMBSR 

.. Gueitays.unitedNatnralFoods,lnc.,etal. RIC 18 18751 

INSTRUCTIONS FOR USE 
4 This farm may be used as an attachment to any summons U space does not permit the listing of all partIes on the summons. 
+ If this attachment Is used, Insert the following statement In the plaintiff or defendant box on the summons: °Addrjonal Parties. 

Attathment Mm Is a11athed7 

List additional parties (check only one box. Use a separate page for each 4.pe ofpadyJ 

£2 PlaUdit? Defendant 0 Cross-ComplaInant C Cross-Defendant 

and on behalf of other members of the general public sImIlarly situated and on behalf of other 
aggrieved employees pursuant to the California Private Attorneys General Act; 

Page 2 of_i_ 

ADDITIONAL PARTIES ATtACHMENT 
Attachment to Summons 
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Edwin Aiwazian (SBN 232943) 
LAWYERS for JUSTICE1  PC 
410 West Arden Avenue Suite 203 
Glendale. California 91203 
Tel: (818) 265-1020 / Fax: (818) 265-1021 

SUPEVO 

SEP 13 2016 
LVILLMNUEVA 

4 Attorneys for Plaintiff 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 

FOR THE COUNTY OF RIVERSIDE 

SALVADOR GUERBA, individually, and 
behalf of other members of the general put 
similarly situated and on behalf of other 
aggrieved employees pursuant to the 
California Private Attorneys General Act; 

Plaintig 

vs. 

UNrrED NATURAL FOODS, INC., an 
unknown business entity; UNITED 
NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC. a 
California corporation; UNFI, an unknown 
business entity; and DOES I through 100, 
hiclusiv; 

Defendants. 

CaseNo.: RC 18 187.51 
aASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR 
DAMAGES & ENFORCEMENT UNDER 
THE PRIVATE ATTORNEYS GENERAL 
ACT, CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE 
§ 2698, El' SEQ. 

Violation of California Labor Code 
§51O and 1198 (Unpaid 
Overtime); 
Violation of CalifOrnia Labor Code 
§§ 226.7 and 512(a) (Unpaid Meal 
Period Premiums); 
Violation of California Labor Code 
§ 226.7 (Unpaid Rest Period 
Premiums); 
Violation of California Labor Code 
if 1194,1197, and 1197.1 (Unpaid 
Minhntmi Wages); 
Violation of California Labor Code 
fl201 and 202 (Final Wages Not 
Timely Paid); 
Violation of California Labor Code 
§ 204 (Wages Not Timely Paid 
During Employment); 
Violation of California Labor Code 
§ 226(a) (Non-Compliant Wage 
Statements); 
Violation of California Labor Code 
§ 1174çd)(FailureToKeqp 
Requisite Pa3kol1 Records); 

California (9) Violatibn of Labor Code 
if 2800 and 2802 (Unreimbursed 
Business Expenses); 

(ID) Violation of California Business & 
Professions Code if 17200, ctseq. 

(11) Violation of California  Labor Code 
§ 2698, at seq. (California Labor 
Code Private Attorneys General 
Mt of 2004) 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRL4L 
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)MPLAINT FOR Dn.coEs & ENFORCEMENT UNDER THIS PRIVATE AnOMIE 
CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE § 2698 ET SEQ. AND DEMAND FOR JURY Thin. 
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COMES NOW, Plaintiff SALVADOR GUERRA ("Plaintiff'), individually, and on 

2 behalf of other members of the general public similarly situated and on behalf of other 

3 aggrieved employees pursuant to the California Private Attorney General Act, and allcges as 

4 I follows: 

5 

6 This class action is brought pursuant to the California Code of Civil Procedure 

section 382. The monetary damages and restitution sought by Plaintiff exceeds the minimal 

jurisdiction limits of the Superior Court and will be established according to proof at trial. The 

9 "àniount in controversy" for the namcd Plaintiff, including but not limited to claims for 

10 compensatory damages, restitution, penalties, wages, premium pay, and pro rata share of 

11 attorneys' fees, is less than seventy-five thousand dollars ($75,000). 

12 2. This Court has jurisdiction over this action pursuant to the California 

13 Constitution, Article VI, Section 10, which grants the superior court "original jurisdiction in 

14 all other, causes" except those given by statute to other courts. The statutes under which this 
cn•E .i' 

15 action is brought do not specify any other basis for jurisdiction. 

16 3. This Court has jurisdiction over Defendants because, upon information and 

17 belief, Defendants are citizens of California, have sufficient minimum contacts in California, 

18 or otherwise intentionally avail themselves of the California market so as to render the 

19 exercise of jurisdiction over them by California courts consistent with traditional notions of 

20 fair play and substantial justice. 

21 4. Venue is proper in this Court because, upon information and belief, Defendant 

22 maintains offices, has agents, employs individuals, and/or transacts business in the State of 

23 California, County of Riverside. The majority of acts and omissions alleged herein relating to 

24 Plaintiff and the other class members took place in the State of California, including the 

25 County of Riverside. 

26 PARTIES 

27 5. Plaintiff SALVADOR GUERRA is an individual residing in the State of 

28 1 California. 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES & ENFORCEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE ATTORNEYS 6swn4u. ACT, 
CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE § 2698, ET SEQ. AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
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6. Defendant UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., at all times herein mentioned, 

2 was and is, upon information and belief, an employer whose employees are engaged 

throughout the State of California, including the County of Riverside. 

4 7. Defendant UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., at all times herein 

mentioned, was and is, upon information and belief, a California corporation, and at all times 

herein mentioned, an employer whose employees are engaged throughout the State of 

California, including the County of Riverside. 

Defendant UNFI, at all times herein mentioned, was and is, upon information 

and belief, an 'employer whose employees are engaged throughout the State of California, 

including the County of Riverside. 

At all relevant times, Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., and UNFI were the "employer" of Plaintiff within the 

meaning of all applicable California laws and statutes. 

At all times herein relevant, Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES 1 through 100, and each of 

them, were the agents, partners, joint venturers, joint employers, representatives, servants, 

employees, successors-in-interest, co-conspirators and/or assigns, each of the other, and at all 

times relevant hereto were acting within the course and scope of their authority as such agents; 

partners, joint venturers, joint employers, representatives, servants, employees, successors, co-

conspirators and/or assigns, and all acts or omissions alleged herein were duly committed with 

the ratification, knowledge, permission, encouragement, authorization and/or consent of each 

defendant designated as a DOE herein. 

The true names and capacities, whether corporate, associate, individual or 

otherwise, of defendants DOES 1 through 100, inclusive, are unknown to Plaintiff who sues 

said defendants by such fictitious names. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based on that 

information and belief alleges, that each of the defendants designated as a DOE is legally 

responsible for the events and happenings referred to in this Complaint, and unlawfully caused 

the injuries and damages to Plaintiff and the other class members as alleged in this Complaint. 

fivi PLAINT FOR DAMAGES & ENFoRcEMENr UNDER THE PRIVATE ATTORNEYS GENERAl. ACT1  

CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE §2698, ET SEQ. AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 
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Plaintiff will seek leave of court to amend this Complaint to show the true names and 

Plaintiff brings this action on his own behalf and on behalf of all other members 

of the general public similarly situated, and, thus, seeks class certification under California 

Code of Civil Procedure section 382. 

The proposed class is defined as follows: 

All current and former hourly-paid or non-exempt employees who worked for 

any of the Defendants within the State of California at any time during the 

period from four years preceding the filing of this Complaint to final judgment. 

Plaintiff reserves the right to establish subclasses as appropriate. 

in The class is ascertainable and there is a well-defined community of interest in 

the litigation: 

Numerosity:The class members are so numerous thatjoinder of all class 

members is impracticable. The membership of the entire class is 

unknown to Plaintiff at this time; however, the class is estimated tobe 

greater than fifty (50) individuals and the identity of such membership is 

readily ascertainable by inspection of Defendants' records. 

Tvnicalitv: Plaintiffs claims are typical of all other class members' as 

demonstrated herein. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the 

interests of the other class members with whom he has a well-defined 

4 

COMPLAINT FOR DMMOES & ENFORCEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE ATTORNEYS GENERAl. ACT, 
CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE § 2698, ET SEQ. AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

capacities when the same have been ascertained. 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., UNITED NATURALFOODS 

WEST,INC., UNFI, and DOES I through 100 will hereinafter collectively be referred to as 

"Defendants." 

Plaintiff further alleges that Defendants, directly or indirectly controlled or 

affected the working conditions, wages, working hours, and conditions of employment of 

Plaintiff and the other class members and aggrieved employees so as to make each of said 

Defendants employers and employers liable under the statutory provisions set forth herein. 

CLASS ACflON ALLEGATIONS 
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community of interest 

Adequacy: Plaintiff will fairly and adequately protect the interests of 

each class member, with whom he has a well-defined community of 

interest and typicality of claims, as demonstrated herein. Plaintiff has no 

interest that is antagonistic to the other class members. PlaintifFs 

attorneys, the proposed class counsel, are versed in the rules governing 

class action discovery, certification, and settlement. Plaintiff has 

incurred, and during the pendency of this action will continue to incur, 

costs and attorneys' fees, that have been, are, and will be necessarily 

expended for the prosecution of this action for the substantial benefit of 

each class member. 

Superiority: A class action is superior to other available methods for the 

fair and efficient adjudication of this litigation because individual joinder 

of all class members is impractical. 

C. Public Policy Considerations: Certification of this lawsuit as a class 

action will advance public policy objectives. Employers of this great 

state violate employment and labor laws every day. Current employees 

are often afraid to assert their rights out of fear of direct or indirect 

retaliation. However, class actions provide the class members who are 

not named in the complaint anonymity that allows for the vindication of 

their rights. 

18. There are common questions of law and fact as to the class members that 

predominate over questions affecting only individual members. The following common 

questions of law or fact, among others, exist as to the members of the class: 

Whether Defendants' failure to pay wages, without abatement or 

reduction, in accordance with the California Labor Code, was willful; 

Whether Defendants' had a corporate policy and practice of failing to 

pay their hourly-paid or non-exempt employees within the State of 

S 
LcrIoN COMPLAINT FOR DA,.iAoEs & ENFORCEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE ArrORNEYs GENERAl. Ac 
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California for all hours worked and missed (short, late, interrupted, 

and/or missed altogether) meal periods and rest breaks in violation of 

California law; 

- C. Whether Defendants required Plaintiff and the other class members to 

work over eight (8) hours per day and/or over forty (40) hours per week 

and failed to pay the legally required overtime compensation to Plaintiff 

and the other class members; 

Whether Defendants deprived Plaintiff and the other class members of 

meal and/or rest periods or required Plaintiff and the other class 

members to work during meal and/or rest periods without compensation; 

Whether Defendants failed to pay minimum wages to Plaintiff and the 

other class members for all hours worked; 

Whether Defendants failed to pay all wages due to Plaintiff and the other 

class members within the required time upon their discharge or 

resignation; 

Whether Defendants failed to timely pay all wages due to Plaintiff and 

the other class members during their employment; 

ii. Whether Defendants complied with wage reporting as required by the 

California Labor Code; including, inter alia, section 226; 

Whether Defendants kept complete and accurate payroll records as 

required by the California Labor Code, including, inter alia, section 

1174(d); 

Whether Defendants failed to reimburse Plaintiff and the other class 

members for necessary business-related expenses and costs; 

Whether Defendants' conduct was willful or reckless; 

I. Whether.Dcfendants engaged in unfair business practices in violation of 

California Business & Professions Code section 17200, et seq.; 

M. The appropriate amount of damages, restitution, and/or mpnetary 

6 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES & ENFORCEMENT UNDER ThE PRIVATE ATTORNEYS GENERAL ACT, 
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penalties resulting from Defendants' violation of California law; and 

n. Whether Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to 

compensatory damages pursuant to the California Labor Code. 

PAGA ALLEGATIONS 

At all times herein set forth, PAGA was applicable to Plaintiff's employment by 

Defendants. 

At all times herein set forth, PAGA provides that any provision of law under the 

California Labor Code that provides for a civil penalty, including unpaid wages and premium 

wages, to be assessed and collected by the LWDA for violations of the California Labor Code 

may, as an alternative, be recovered through a civil action brought by an aggrieved employee 

on behalf of himself and other current or former employees pursuantto procedures outlined in 

California Labor Code section 2699.3. 

Pursuant to PAGA, a civil action under PAGA may be brought by an "aggrieved 

employee," who is any person that was employed by the alleged violator and against whom 

one or more of the alleged violations was committed. 

Plaintiff was employed by Defendant UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. and 

the alleged violations were committed against him during his time of employment and he is, 

therefore, an aggrieved employee. Plaintiff and the other employees are "aggrieved 

employees" as defined by California Labor Code section 2699(c) in that they are current or 

former employees of Defendants, and one or more of the alleged violations were committed 

against them. 

Pursuant to California Labor Code sections 2699.3 and 2699.5, an aggrieved 

employee, including Plaintiff, may pursue a civil action arising under PAGA after the 

following requirements have been met: 

a. The aggrieved employee shall give written notice by online submission 

(hereinafter "Employee's Notice") to the LWDA and by certified mail to 

the employer of the specific provisions of the California Labor Code 

alleged to have been violated, including the facts and theories to support 

)MFLAINT FOR DAMAGES & ENFORCEMENT UNDER THE PRIvATE ATTORNEYS GENERAL ACT, 
CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE § 2698, Er SEQ. AND DEMAND FOR JURY Taw. 
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4 

the alleged violations. 

b. The LWDA shall provide notice (hereinafter "LWDA Notice") to the 

employer and the aggrieved employee by certified mail that it does not 

intend to investigate the alleged violation within sixty (60) calendar days 

of the postmark date of the Employee's Notice. Upon receipt of the 

LWDANotice, or if the LWDA Notice is not provided within sixty-five 

7 (65) calendar days of the postmark date of the Employee's Notice, the 

aggrieved employee may commence a civil action pursuant to California 

Labor Code section 2699 to recover civil penalties in addition to any 

other penalties to which the employee may be entitled. 

On June 4,2014, Plaintiff provided written notice by online submission to the 

LWDA and by certified mail to Defendant UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. of the specific 

provisions of the California Labor Code alleged to have been violated, including the facts and 

theories to support the alleged violations. Plaintiff did not receive an LWDA Notice within 

sixty-five (65) days of the date of the submission of Plaintiff's Notice. 

Therefore, the administrative prerequisites under California Labor Code section 

2699.3(a) to recover civil penalties, including unpaid wages and premium wagcs per 

California Labor Code section 558 against Defendant UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., in 

addition to other remedies, for violations of California Labor Code sections 201, 202, 203, 

204,226(a), 226.7, 510,512(a), 1174(d), 1194, 1197, 1197.1, 1198,2800 and 2802 have been 

satisfied. 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

At all relevant times set forth herein, Defendants employed Plaintiff and other 

persons as hourly-paid or non-exempt employees within the State of California, County of 

Riverside. 

Defendants, jointly and severally, employed Plaintiff as an hourly-paid, non-

exempt employee, from approximately April2016 to approximately March 2018, in the State 

of California, County of Riverside. 

ACTION COMPLAINr FOR DAMAGES & ENFORCEMENT uNDER THE PRIVATE AnolulEys GENERAl. ACT, 
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28. Defendants hired Plaintiff and the other class members and classified them as 

2 hourly-paid or non-exempt employees, and failed to compensate them for all hours worked. 

and missed meal periods and/or rest breaks. 

4 29. Defendants had the authority to hire and terminate Plaintiff and the other class 

members, to set work rules and conditions governing Plaintiffs and the other class members' 

employment, and to supervise their daily employment activities. 

30. Defendants exercised sufficient authority over the terms and conditions of 

Plaintiff's and the other clasE members' employment for them to be joint employers of 

Plaintiff and the other class members. 

Defendants directly hired and paid wages and benefits to Plaintiff and the other 

class members. 

Defendants continue to employ hourly-paid or non-exempt employees within the 

State of California. 

Plaintiff and the other class members worked over eight (8) hours in a day, 

and/or forty (40) hours in a week during their employment with Defendants. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

engaged in a pattern and practice of wage abuse against their hourly-paid or non-exempt 

employees within the State of California. This pattern and practice involved, inter alia, failing 

to pay them for all regular and/or overtime wages earned and .for missed meal periods and rest 

breaks in violation of California law. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and the other class members were entitled to receive 

óertain wages for overtime compensation and that they were not receiving accurate overtime 

compensation for all overtime hours worked. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

failed to provide Plaintiff and the other class members all required rest and meal periods 

during the relevant time period as required under the Industrial Welfare Commission Wage 

Orders and thus they are entitled to any and all applicable penalties. 

PMPLAIPIT FOR DAMAGES & ENFORCEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE ATTORNE 
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Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

2 knew or should have known that Plaintiff and the other class members were entitled to receive 

all meal periods or payment of one additional hour of pay at Plaintiff's and the other class 

4 member's regular rate of pay when a meal period was missed, and they did not receive all 

meal periods or payment of one additional hour of pay at Plaintiff's and the other class 

member's regular rate of pay when a meal period was missed. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and the other class members were entitled to receive 

all rest periods or payment of one additional hour of pay at Plaintiff's and the other class 

member's regular rate of pay when a rest period was missed, and they did not receive all rest 

periods or payment of one additional hour of pay at Plaintiff's and the other class members' 

regular rate of  pay when a rest period was missed. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and the other class members were entitled to receive 

at least minimum wages kr compensation and that they were not receiving at least minimum 

wages for all hours worked. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and the other class members were entitled to receive 

all wages owed to them upon discharge or resignation, including overtime and minimum 

wages and meal and rest period premiums, and they did not, in fhct, receive all such wages 

owed to them at the time of their discharge or resignation. 

Plaintiff is infbrmed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and the other class members were entitled to receive 

all wages owed to them during their employment. Plaintiff and the other class members did 

not receive payment of all wages, including overtime and minimum wages and meal and rest 

period premiums, within any time permissible under California Labor Code section 204. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and the other class members were entitled to receive 

10 
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complete and accurate wage statements in accordance with California law, but, in feet, they 

did not receive complete and accurate wage statements from Defendants. The deficiencies 

included, inter alia, the failure to include the total number of hours worked by Plaintiff and the 

41 other class members. 

43. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Defendants had to keep complete and accurate payroll 

7 records for Plaintiff and the other class members in accordance with California law, but, in 

fact, did not keep complete and accurate payroll records. 

reimbursement for necessary business-related expenses. 

Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that they had a duty to compensate Plaintiff and the other class 

members pursuant to California law, and that Defendants had the financial ability to pay such 

compensation, but willflully, knowingly, and intentionally failed to do so, and thlsely 

represented to Plaintiff and the other class members that they were properly denied wages, all 

in order to increase Defendants' profits. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to pay overtime wages to 

Plaintiff and the other class members for all overtime hours worked. Plaintiff and the other 

class members were required to work utuze diass eight (8) hours per day amid/or forty (40) hours 

per week without overtime compensation for all overtime hours worked. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to provide all requisite 

uninterrupted meal and rest periods to Plaintiff and the other class members. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the other 

class members at least minimum wages lbr all hours worked. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the other 

class members all wages owed to them upon discharge or resignation. 

I/I 

II 

COMPLAINT FOR DAMAOES & ENFORCEMENT UNDER THE PRIvATE ATTORNE 
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44. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and based thereon alleges, that Defendants 

knew or should have known that Plaintiff and the other class members were entitled to 
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7 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the other 

class members all wages within any time permissible under California law, including, Inter 

alia, California Labor Code section 204. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to provide complete or 

accurate wage statements to Plaintiff and the other class members. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to keep complete or accurate 

payroll records for Plaintiff and the other class members. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to reimburse Plaintiff and the 

other class members for all necessary business-related expenses and costs. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to properly compensate 

Plaintiff and the other class members pursuant to California law in order to increase 

Defendants' profits. 

California Labor Code section 218 states that nothing in Article I of the Labor 

Code shall limit the right of any wage claimant to "sue directly . .. for any wages or penalty 

due to him [or her] under this article." 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code §§ 510 and 1193) 

(Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES 1 through 100) 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 

through 55, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

California Labor Code section 1198 and the applicable Industrial Welfare 

Commission ("IWC") Wage Order provide that it is unlawful to employ persons without 

compensating them at a rate of pay either time-and-one-half or two-times that person's regular 

rate of pay, depending on the number of hours worked by the person on a daily or weekly 

basis. 

III 

12 
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Specifically, the applicable IWC Wage Order provides that Defendants are and 

were required to pay Plaintiff and the other class members employed by Defendants, and 

working more than eight (8) hours in a day or more than forty (40) hours in a workweek, at the 

n rate of time-and-one-half for all hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours in a day or more 

than forty (40) hours in a workweek. 

The applicable IWC Wage Order further provides that Defendants are and were 

required to pay Plaintiff and the other class members overtime compensation at a rate of two 

times their regular rate of pay for all hours worked in excess of twelve (12) hours in a day. 

California Labor Code section 510 codifies the right to overtime compensation 

at one-and-one-half times the regular hourly rate for hours worked in excess of eight (8) hours 

in a day or forty (40) hours in a week or for the first eight (8) hours worked on the seventh day 

of work, and to overtime compensation at twice the regular hourly rate for hours worked in 

excess of twelve (12) hours in a day or in excess of eight (8) hours in a day on the seventh day 

of work. 

During the relevant time period, Plaintiff and the other class members worked in 

excess of eight (8) hours in a day, and/or in excess of forty (40) hours in a week. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants intentionally and willfully thiled to 

pay overtime wages owed to Plaintiff and the other class members. 

Defendants' ihilure to pay Plaintiff and the other class members the unpaid 

balance of overtime compensation, as required by California laws, violates the provisions of 

California Labor Code sections 510 and 1198, and is therefore unlawful. 

Pursuant to California Labor Code section 1194, Plaintiff and the other class 

members are entitled to recover unpaid overtime compensation, as well as interest, costs, and 

attorneys' fees. 

I// 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 (Violation of California Labor Code §§ 226.7 and 512(a)) 

(Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 

4 UMTED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES 1 through 100) 

5 65.. Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

6 through 64, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

7 forth herein. 

S 66. At all relevant times, the IWC Order and California Labor Code sections 226.7 

9 and 512(a) were applicable to Plaintiff's and the other class members' employment by 

10 Defendants. 

11 67. At all relevant times, California Labor Code section 226.7 provides that no 

12 employer shall require an employee to work during any meal or rest period mandated by an 

Qo 
13 applicable other of the California IWC. 

14 68. At all relevant times, the applicable IWC Wage Order and California Labor 
W or 

15 Code section 512(a) provide that an employer may not require, cause or permit an employee to 

16 work for a work period of more than five (5) hours per day without providing the employee 

17 with a meal period of not less than thirty (30) minutes, except that if the total work period per 

18 day of the employee is no more than six (6) hours, the meal period may be waived by mutual 

19 consent of both the employer and employee. 

20 69. At all relevant times, the applicable IWC Wage Order and California Labor 

21 Code section 512(a) further provide that an employer may not require, cause or permit an 

22 employee to work for a work period of more than ten (10) hours per day without providing the 

23 employee with a second uninterrupted meal period of not less than thirty (30) minutes, except 

24 that if the total hours worked is no more than twelve (12) hours, the second meal period may 

25 be waived by mutual consent of the employer and the employee only if the first meal period 

26 was not waived. 

27 70. During the relevant time period, Plaintiff and the other class members who were 

28 scheduled to work for a period of time no longer than six (6) hours, and who did not waive 

14 
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their legally-mindated meal periods by mutual consent, were required to work for periods 

2 longer than five (5) hours without an uninterrupted meal period of not less than thirty (30) 

3 minutes andlor rest period. 

4 71. During the relevant time period, Plaintiff and the other class members who were 

5 scheduled to work for a period of time in excess of six (6) hours were required to work for 

6 periods longer than five (5) hours without an uninterrupted meal period of not less than thirty 

7 (30) minutes and/or rest period. 

72. During the relevant time period, Defendants intentionally and willfully required 

Plaintiff and the other class members to wbrk during meal periods and failed to compensate 

Plaintiff and the other class members the full meal period premium for work performed during 

meal periods. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the other 

class members the full meal period premium due pursuant to California Labor Code section 

226.7. 

Defendants' conduct violates applicable IWC Wage Other and California Labor 

Code sections 226.7 and 5 12(1). 

Pursuant to applicable IWC Wage Other and California Labor Code section 

226.7(c), Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to recover from Defendants one 

additional hour of pay at the employee's regular rate of compensation for each work day that 

the meal or rest period is not provided. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code § 226.7) 

(Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES I through 100) 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 75, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

'I, 

15 
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77. At all limes herein set forth, the applicable IWC Wage Order and California 

2 Labor Code section 226.7 were applicable to Plaintiffs and the other class members' 

employment by Defendants. 

78. At all relevant times, California Labor Code section 226.7 provides that no 

employer shall require an employee to work during any rest period mandated by an applicable 

order of the California IWC. 

At all relevant limes, the applicable IWC Wage Order provides that "[e]very 

employer shall authorize and permit all employees to take rest periods, which insofhr as 

practicable shall be in the middle of each work period" and that the "rest period time shall be 

based on the total hours worked daily at the rate often (10) minutes net rest time per four (4) 

hours or major fraction thereof' unless the total daily work time is less than three and one-half 

(3 ¼) hours. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants required Plaintiff and other class 

members to work four (4) or more hours without authorizing or permitting a ten (10) minute 

rest period per each four (4) hour period worked. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants willfully required Plaintiff and the 

other class members to work during rest periods and failed to pay Plaintiff and the other class 

members the full rest period premium for work performed during rest periods. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to pay Plaintiff and the other 

class members the full rest period premium due pursuant to California Labor Code section 

226.7 

Defendants' conduct violates applicable IWC Wage Orders and California 

Labor Code section 226.7. 

Pursuant to the applicable IWC Wage Orders and California Labor Code section 

226.7(c), Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to recover from Defendants one 

additional hour of pay at the employees' regular hourly rate of compensation for each work 

day that the rest period was not provided. 

I/I 
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I FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 (Violation of California Labor Code if 1194,1197, and 1197.1) 

3 (Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 

4 UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES 1 through 100) 

5 85. Plaintiff incoiporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs I 

6 through 84, and each and every part thereof with the same force and efIbct as though fully set 

7 forth herein. 

8 86. At all relevant times, California Labor Code sections 1194, 1197, and 1197.1 

9 provide that the minimum wage to be paid to employees, and the payment of a lesser wage 

10 than the minimum so fixed is unlawful. 

u 11 87. During the relevant time period, Defendants failed to pay minimum wage to 

12 Plaintiff and the other class members as required, pursuant to California Labor Code sections 

13 1194, 1197, and 1197.1. 

& a  14 88. Defundants' failure to pay Plaintiff and the other class members the minimum 

gal  
15 

wage as required violates California Labo Code sections 1194, 1197, and 1197.1. Pursuant to 

16 those sections Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to recover the unpaid balance 

17 of their minimum wage compensation as well as interest, costs, and attorney's fees, and 

18 liquidated damages in an amount equal to the wages unlawfully unpaid and interest thereon. 

19 89. Pursuant to California Labor Code section 1197.1, Plaintiff and the other class 

20 members are entitled to recover a penalty of $100.00 for the initial failure to timely pay each 

21 employee minimum wages, and $250.00 for each subsequent failure to pay each employee 

22 minimum wages. 

23 90. Pursuant to California Labor Code section 1194.2, Plaintiff and the other class 

24 members are entitled to recover liquidated damages in an amount equal to the wages 

25 unlawfully unpaid and interest thereon. 

26 11I 

27 11/ 

28 I/I 
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vinH CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 

4 

VA 

(Violation of California Labor Code §§ 201 and 202) 

(Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC, 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES 1 througb 100) 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 90, and each and every part thereof with the same force and efibct as though fully set 

forth herein. 

At all relevant times herein set forth, California Labor Code sections 201 and 

202 provide that if an employer discharges an employee, the wages earned and unpaid at the 

time of discharge are due and payable immediately, and if an employee quits his or her 

employment, his or her wages shall become due and payable not later than seventy-two (72) 

hours thereafter, unless the employee has given seventy-two (72) hours' notice of his or her 

intention to quit, in which case the employee is entitled to his or her wages at the time of 

quitting. 

During the relevant time period, Defendants intentionally and willfully failed to 

pay Plaintiff and the other class members who are no longer employed by Defendants their 

wages, earned and unpaid, within seventy-two (72) hours of their leaving Defendants' employ. 

Defendants' thilure to pay Plaintiff and the other class members who are no 

longer employed by Defendants' their wages, earned and unpaid, within seventy-two (72) 

hours of their leaving Defendants' employ, is in violation of California Labor Code sections 

frAUri! fritsx! 

California Labor Code section 203 provides that if an employer willfully fails to 

pay wages owed, in accordance with sections 201 and 202, then the wages of the employee 

shall continue as a penalty from the due date thereof at the same rate until paid or until an 

action is commenced; but the wages shall not continue for more than thirty (30) days. 

Plaintiff and the other class- members are entitled to recover from Defendants the 

statutory penalty wages for each day they were not paid, up to a thirty (30) day maximum 

pursuant to California Labor Code section 203. 

18 
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SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code § 204) 

(Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES 1 through 100) 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 96, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

At all times herein set forth, California Labor Code section 204 provides that all 

wages earned by any person in any employment between the 1st and 15th days, inclusive, of 

any calendar month, other than those wages due upon termination of an employee, are due and 

payable between the 16th and the 26th day of the month during which the labor was 

performed. 

At all times herein set forth, California Labor Code section 204 provides that all 

wages earned by any person in any employment between the 16th and the last day, inclusive, 

of any calendar month, other than those wages due upon termination of an employee, are due 

and payable between theist and the 10th day of the following month. 

At all times herein set forth, California Labor Code section 204 provides that all 

wages earned for labor in excess of the normal work period shall be paid no later than the 

payday for the next regular payroll period 

During the relevant time period, Defendants intentionally and willfully fhiled to 

pay Plaintiff and the other class members all wages due to them, within any time period 

permissible under California Labor Code section 204. 

Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to recover all remedies 

available for violations of California Labor Code section 204. 

'II 
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SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 (Violation of California Labor Code § 226(a)) 

(Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 

UNiTED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES 1 through 100) 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 102, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

At all material times set forth herein, California Labor Code section 226(a) 

provides that every employer shall furnish each of his or her employees an accurate itemized 

statement in writing showing (1) gross wages earned, (2) total hours worked by the employee, 

(3) the number of piece-rate units earned and any applicable piece rate if the employee is paid 

on a piece-rate basis, (4) all deductions, provided that all deductions made on written orders of 

the employee may be aggregated and shown as one item, (5) net wages earned, (6) the 

inclusive dates of the period for which the employee is paid, (7) the name of the employee and 

his or her social security number, (8) the name and address of the legal entity that is the 

employer, and (9) all applicable hourly iates in effect during the pay period and the 

corresponding number of hours worked at each hourly rate by the employee. The deductions 

made from payments of wages shall be recorded in ink or other indelible form, properly dated, 

showing the month, day, and year, and a copy of the statement or a record of the deductions 

shall be kept on file by the employer for at least three years at the place of employment or at a 

central location within the State of Califbrnia. 

Defendants have intentionally and willfully failed to provide Plaintiff and the 

other class members with complete and accurate wage statements. The deficiencies include, 

but are not limited to: the failure to include the total number of hours worked by Plaintiff and 

the other class members. 

As a result of Defendants' violation of California Labor Code section 226(a), 

Plaintiff and the other class members have suffered injury and damage to their statutorily-

protected rights. 

20 
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107. More specifically, Plaintiff and the other class members have been injured by 

Defendants' intentional and willfhl violation of California Labor Code section 226(a) because 

they were denied both their legal right to receive, and their protected interest in receiving, 

4 accurate and itemized wage statements pursuant to California Labor Code section 226(a). 

5 108. Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to recover from Defendants the 

6 greater of their actual damages caused by Defendants' failure to comply with California Labor 

7 Code section 226(a), or an aggregate penalty not exceeding four thousand dollars per 

employee. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code § 1174(d)) 

(Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC, UNFI, and DOES 1 through 100) 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs I 

through 109, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

Ill. Pursuant to California Labor Code section 1174(d), an employer shall keep, at a 

central location in the state or at the plants or establishments at which employees are 

employed, payroll records showing the hours worked daily by and the wages paid to, and the 

number of piece-rate units earned by and any applicable piece rate paid to, employees 

employed at the respective plants or establishments. These records shall be kept in accordance 

with rules established for this purpose by the commission, but in any case shall be kept on file 

for not less than two years. 

112. Defendants have intentionally and willfully failed to keep accurate and complete 

payroll records showing the hours worked daily and the wages paid, to Plaintiff and the other 

class members. 

III 
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Plaintiff and the other class members are also entitled to injunctive relief to 

ensure compliance with this section, pursuant to California Labor Code section 226(h). 
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As a result of Defendants' violation of California Labor Code section 1174(d), 

Plaintiff and the other class members have suffered injury and damage to their statutorily-

protected rights. 

More specifically, Plaintiff and the other class members have been injured by 

Defendants' intentional and willful violation of California Labor Code section 1174(d) 

because they were denied both their legal right and protected interest, in having available, 

WI accurate and complete payroll records pursuant to California Labor Code section 1174(d). 

NINTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES 1 through 100) 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs I 

through 114, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

Pursuant to California Labor Code sections 2800 and 2802, an employer must 

reimburse its employee for all necessary expenditures incurred by the employee in direct 

consequence of the discharge of his or her job duties or in direct consequence of his or her 

obedience to the directions of the employer. 

Plaintiff and the other class members incurred necessary business-related 

expenses and costs that were not fully reimbursed by Defendants. 

Defendants have intentionally and willfully failed to reimburse Plaintiff and the 

other class members for all necessary business-related expenses and costs. Plaintiff and the 

other class members are entitled to recover from Defendants their business-related expenses 

and costs incurred during the course and scope of their employment, plus interest accrued from 

the date on which the employee incurred the necessary expenditures at the same rate as 

judgments in civil actions in the State of California. 

III 
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TENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

2 (Violation of California Business & Professions Code §§ 17200, et seq.) 

(Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 

interest within the meaning of Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5. 

Defendants' activities as alleged herein are violations of California law, and 

constitute unlawful business acts and practices in violation of California Business & 

Professions Code section 17200, et seq. 

A violation of California Business & Professions Code section 17200, et seq. 

may be predicated on the violation of any state or federal law. In this izistant case, 

Defendants' policies and practices of requiring employees, including Plaintiff and the other 

class members, to work overtime without paying them proper compensation violate California 

Labor Code sections 510 and 1198. Additionally, Defendants' policies and practices of 

rcquiring employees, including Plaintiff and the other class members, to work through their 

meal and rest periods without paying them proper compensation violate California Labor Code 

sections 226.7 and 5 12(a). Defendants' policies and practices of thiling to pay minimum 

wages violate California Labor Code sections 1194, 1197, and 1197.1. Moreover, Defendants' 

policies and practices of failing to timely pay wages to Plaintiff and the other class members 

violate California Labor Code sections 201, 202 and 204. Defendants also violated California 

Labor Code sections 226(a), 1174(d), 2800 and 2802. 

As a result of the herein described violations of California law, Defendants 

unlawfully gained an unfair advantage over other businesses. 
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UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., UNFI, and DOES 1 through 100) 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 118, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

Defendants' conduct, as alleged herein, has been, and continues to be, unthir, 

unlawful and harmful to Plaintiff, other class members, to the general public, and Defendants' 

competitors. Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks to enforce important rights affecting the public 
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124. Plaintiff and the other class members have been personally injured by 

Defendants' unlawful business acts and practices as alleged herein, including but not 

necessarily limited to the loss of money and/or property. 

125. Pursuant to California Business & Professions Code sections 17200, et seq., 

Plaintiff and the other class members are entitled to restitution of the wages withheld and 

retained by Defendants during a period that commences four years prior to the filing of this 

Complaint; an award of attorneys' fees pursuant to California Code of Civil procedure section 

1021.5 and other applicable laws; and an award of costs. 

ELEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code if 2698, at seq.) 

(Against UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. and DOES 1 through 100) 

Plaintiff incorporates by reference the allegations contained in paragraphs 1 

through 125, and each and every part thereof with the same force and effect as though fully set 

forth herein. 

PAGA expressly establishes that any provision of the California Labor Code 

which prqvides for a civil penalty to be assessed and collected by the LWDA, or any of its 

departments, divisions, commissions, boards, agencies or employees for a violation of the 

California Labor Code, may be recovered through a civil action brought by an aggrieved 

employee on behalf of himself or herself, and other current or former employees. 

Whenever the LWDA, or any of its departments, divisions, commissions, 

boards, agencies, or employees has discretion to assess a civil penalty, a court in a civil action 

is authorized to exercise the same discretion, subject to the same limitations and conditions, to 

assess a civil penalty. 

Plaintiff and the other hourly-paid or non-exempt employees are "aggrieved 

employees" as defined by California Labor Code section 2699(c) in that they are all current or 

former employees of Defendants, and one or more of the alleged violations was committed 

against them. 
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Failure to Pay Overtime 

2 130. Defendants' failure to pay legally required overtime wages to Plaintiff and the 

other aggrieved employees is in violation of the Wage Orders and constitutes unlawful or 

4 unfair activity prohibited by California Labor Code sections 510 and 1198. 

Failure to Provide Meal Periods 

6 131. Defendants' failure to provide legally required meal periods to Plaintiff and the 

other aggrieved employees is in violation of the Wage Orders and constitutes unlawful or 

unfair activity prohibited by California Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512(a). 

other aggrieved employees is in violation of the Wage Orders and constitutes unlawful or 

unfair activity prohibited by California Labor Code section 226.7. 

Failure to Pay Minimum Wages 

Defendants' failure to pay legally required minimum wages to Plaintiff and the 

other aggrieved employees is in violation of the Wage Orders and constitutes unlawful or 

unfair activity prohibited by California Labor Code sections 1194, 1197 and 1197.1. 

Failure to Timely Pay Wages Upon Termination 

Defendants' failure to timely pay wages to Plaintiff and the other aggrieved 

employees upon termination in accordance with Labor Code sections 201 and 202 constitutes 

unlawful and/or unfair activity prohibited by California Labor Code sections 201 and 202. 

Failure to Timely Pay Wages During Employment 

Defendants' failure to timely pay wages to Plaintiff and the other aggrieved 

employees during employment in accordance with Labor Code section 204 constitutes 

unlawful and/or unfair activity prohibited by California Labor Code section 204. 

Failure to Provide Complete and Accurate Wage Statements 

Defendants' failure to provide complete and accurate wage statements to 

Plaintiff and the other aggrieved employees in accordance with Labor Code section 226(a) 

constitutes unlawful and/or unfair activity prohibited by California Labor Code section 226(a). 
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Failure to Provide Rest Periods 

132. Defendants' failure to provide legally required rest periods to Plaintiff and the 
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Failure to Keep Complete and Accurate Payroll Records 

2 137. Defendants' failure to keep complete and accurate payroll records relating to 

Plaintiff and the other aggrieved employees in accordance with California Labor Code section 

1174(d) constitutes unlawful and/or unfair activity prohibited by California Labor Code 

section 1174(d). 

Failure to Reimburse Necessary Business-Related Expenses and Costs 

138. Defendants' failure to reimburse Plaintiff and the other aggrieved employees for 

necessary business-related expenses and costs in accordance with California Labor Code 

9 sections 2800 and 2802 constitutes unlawful and/or unfair activity prohibited by California 

10 Labor Code sections 2800 and 2802. 

ri 11 139. Pursuant to California Labor Code section 2699, Plaintiff, individually, and on 

12 behalf of all aggrieved employees, requests and is entitled to recover from Defendants and 

çg 13 each of them, business expenses, unpaid wages, and/or untimely wages according to proof, 

14 interest, attorneys' fees and costs pursuant to California Labor Code section 218.5, as well as 

15 all statutory penalties against Defendants, and each of them, including but not limited to: 

16 a. Penalties under California Labor Code section 2699 in the amount of a 

17 hundred dollars ($100) for each aggrieved employee per pay period for the 

18 initial violation, and two hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved 

19 employee per pay period for each subsequent violation; 

20 b. Penalties under California Code of Regulations Tide 8 section 11010, et 

21 seq. in the amount of fifty dollars ($50) for each aggrieved employee per 

22 pay period for the initial violation, and one hundred dollars ($100) for 

23 each aggrieved employee per pay period for each subsequent violation; 

24 C. Penalties under California Labor Code section 210 in addition to, and 

25 entirely independent and apart from, any other penalty provided in the 

26 California Labor Code in the amount of a hundred dollars (S 100) for each 

27 aggrieved employee per pay period for the initial violation, and two 

28 hundred dollars ($200) for each aggrieved employee per pay period fbr 
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each subsequent violation; and 

d. Any and all additional penalties and sums as provided by the California 

Labor Code Md/or other statutes. 

Pursuant to California Labor Code section 2699(i), civil penalties recovered by 

aggrieved employees shall be distributed as follows: seventy-five percent (75%) to the Labor 

and Workforce Development Agency for the enforcement of labor laws and education of 

7 employers and employees about their rights and responsibilities and twenty-five percent (25%) 

to the aggrieved employees. 

Further, Plaintiff is entitled to week and recover reasonable attorneys' fees and 

costs pursuant to California Labor Code sections 210, 218.5 and 2699 and any other applicable 

statute. 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plaintiff, individually, and on behalf of other members of the general public similarly 

situated and on behalf of other aggrieved employees pursuant to the California Private 

Attorney General Act, requests a trial by jury. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, individually and on behalf of all other members of the 

general public similarly situated and on behalf of other aggrieved employees pursuant to the 

California Private Attorney General Act, prays for relief and judgment against Defendants, 

jointly and severally, as follows: 

Class Certification 

That this action be certified as a class action; 

That Plaintiff be appointed as the representative of the Class; 

That counsel for Plaintiff be appointed as Class Counsel; and 

That Defendants provide to Class Counsel immediately the names and most 

current/last known contact information (address, e-mail and telephone numbers) of all class 

members. 
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As to the First Cause of Action 

That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violited California 

Labor Code sections 510 and 1198 and applicable IWC Wage Orders by willfully failing to 

pay all overtime wages due to Plaintiff and the other class members; 

For general unpaid wages at overtime wage rates and such general and special 

damages as may be appropriate; 

For prc-judgment interest on any unpaid overtime compensation commencing 

from the date such amounts were due; 

B. For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit incurred herein pursuant to 

California Labor Code section 1194; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Second Cause of Action 

That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code sections 226.7 and 512 and applicable IWC Wage Orders by willfully failing to 

provide all meal periods (including second meal periods) to Plaintiff and the other class 

members; 

That the Court make an award to Plaintiff and the other class members of one 

(1) hour of pay at each employee's regular rate of compensation for each workday that a meal 

period was not provided; 

For all actual, consequential, and incidental losses and damages, according to 

proof; 

For premium wages pursuant to California Labor Code section 226.7(c); 

For pre-judgment interest on any unpaid wages from the date such amounts 

were due; 

For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit incurred herein; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 
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I As to the Third Cause of Action 

2 17. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

3 Labor Code section 226.7 and applicable IWC Wage Orders by willfully failing to provide all 

4 rest periods to Plaintiff and the other class members; 

5 18. That the Court make an award to Plaintiff and the other class members of one 

6 (1) hour of pay at each employee's regular rate of compensation for each workday that a rest 

For premium wages pursuant to California Labor Code section 226.7(c); 

For pre-judgment interest on any unpaid wages from the date such amounts 

were due; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Fourth Cause of Action 

That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code sections 1194, 1197, and 1197.1 by willfWly thiling to pay minimum wages to 

Plaintiff and the other class members; 

For general unpaid wages and such general and special damages as may be 

appropriate; 

For statutory wage penalties pursuant to California Labor Code section 1197.1 

for Plaintiff and the other class members in the amount as may be established according to 

proof at trial; 

For pre-judgment interest on any unpaid compensation from the date such 

amounts were due; 

For reasonable attornàys' fees and costs of suit incurred herein pursuant to 

California Labor Code section 1194(a); 

For liquidated damages pursuant to California Labor Code section 1194.2; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

CTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES & ENFORCEMENT UNDER THE PRIVATE ATrORNEYS GENERAL ACT, 
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As to the Fifth Cause of Action 

That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code sections 201,202, and 203 by willfully failing to pay all compensation owed at 

the time of termination of the employment of Plaintiff and the other class members no longer 

employed by Defendants; 

For all actual, consequential, and incidental losses and damages, according to 

proof; 

For statutory wage penalties pursuant to California Labor Code section 203 for 

Plaintiff and the other class members who have left Defendants' employ; 

For prc-judgment interest on any unpaid compensation from the date such 

amounts were due; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Sixth Cause of Action 

That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code section 204 by willfully failing to pay all compensation owed at the time required 

by California Labor Code section 204 to Plaintiff and the other class members; 

For all actual, consequential, and incidental losses and damages, according to 

proof; 

For pre-judgnient interest on any unpaid compensation from the date such 

amounts were due; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Seventh Cause of Action 

That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated the record 

keeping provisions of California Labor Code section 226(a) and applicable IWC Wage Orders 

as to Plaintiff and the other class members, and willfully failed to provide accurate itemized 

wage statements thereto; 

For actual, consequential and incidental losses and damages, according to proof; 

For statutory penalties pursuant to California Labor Code section 226(e); 
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For injunctive relief to ensure compliance with this section, pursuant to 

California Labor Code section 226(h); and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

4 
- 

As to the Eighth Cause of Action - 

That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code section 1174(d) by willfully failing to keep accurate and complete payroll records 

For actual, consequential and incidental losses and damages, according to proof; 

For statutory penalties pursuant to California Labor Code section 1174.5; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Ninth Cause of Action 

That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Labor Code sections 2800 and 2802 by willfully failing to reimburse Plaintiff and the other 

class members for all necessary business-related expenses as required by California Labor 

Code sections 2800 and 2802; 

For actual, consequential and incidental losses and damages, according to proof; 

For the imposition of civil penalties and/or statutory penalties; 

For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit incurred herein; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Tenth Cause of Action 

That the Court decree, adjudge and decree that Defendants violated California 

Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq. by failing to provide Plaintiff and the 

other class members all overtime compensation due to them, failing to provide all meal and 

rest periods to Plaintiff and the other class members, failing to pay at least minimum wages to 

Plaintiff and the other class members, failing to pay Plaintiff's and the other class members' 

wages timely as required by California Labor Code section 201,202 and 204 and by violating 

California Labor Code sections 226(a), 1174(d), 2800 and 2802. 

CLASs Acriow COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES & ENFORCEMENT UNDER THE PRIvATE ATTORNEYS GENERAL ACT, 
CALIFORNIA LABOR CODE § 2698, ET SEQ. AND DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

for Plaintiff and the other class members as required by California Labor Code section 

1174(d); 
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For restitution of unpaid wages to Plaintiff and all the other class members and 

all pre-judgznent interest from the day such amounts were due and payable; 

For the appointment of a receiver to receive, manage and distribute any and all 

funds disgorged from Defendants and determined to have been wrongfully acquired by 

Defendants as a result of violation of California Business and Professions Code sections 

17200, et seq.; 

For reasonable attorneys' fees and costs of suit incurred herein pursuant to 

California Code of Civil Procedure section 1021.5; 

For injunctive relief to ensure compliance with this section, pursuant to 

California Business and Professions Code sections 17200, et seq.; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

As to the Eleventh Cause of Action 

For civil penalties and wages pursuant to California Labor Code sections 

2699(a), (f) and (g) and 558 plus costs and attorneys' fees for violation of California Labor 

Code sections 201, 202, 203, 204, 226(a), 226.7, 510, 512(a), 1174(d), 1194, 1197, 1197.1, 

1198,2800 and 2802; and 

For such other and further relief as the Court may deem equitable and 

appropriate. 

Dated: September 13, 2018 LAWYERSfor JUSTICE, PC 

Agi  1C 
Edwin Aiwazian 
Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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INSTRUCTIONS ON HOW TO COMPLETE THE COVER SHEET 
To Plaintiffs and Others Filing First Papers. If you are filing a first paper (for example, a complaint) in a civil case, you must 
complete and file, along with your first paper, the Civil Case Cover Sheet contained on page 1. This information will be used to compile 
statistics about the types and numbers of cases filed. You must complete items I through 6 on the sheet. In item I • you must check 
one box for the case type that best describes the case. If the case fits both a general and a more specific type of case listed In item 1, 
check the more specific one. If the case has multiple causes of action, check the box that best indicates the primary cause of action. 
To assist you In completing the sheet, examples of the cases that belong under each case type In item I are provided below. A cover 
sheet must be filed only with your initial paper. Failure to file a cover sheet with the first paper filed In a civil case may subject a party. 
Its counsel,or both to sanctions under rules 2.30 and 3.220 of the California Rules of Court. 
To Parties In Rule 3.740 Collections Cases. A ecollections case" under rule 3.740 is defined as an action for recovery of money 
owed in a sum stated to be certain that is not more than $25,000, exclusive of interest and attome9s fees, arisIng from a transaction in 
which property, services, or money was acquired on credit. A collections case does not include an action seeking the following: (1) tort 
damages, (2) punitive damages. (3) recovery of real property. (4) recovery of personal property, or (5) a prejudgment writ of 
attachment. The identification of a case as a rule 3.740 collections case on this form means that It will be exempt from the general 
time-for-service requirements and case management rules, unless a defendant flies a responsive pleading. A rule 3.740 collections 
case will be subject to the requirements for service and obtaining a judgment in rule 3.740. 
To Parties in Complex Cases. In complex cases only, parties must also use the Civil Case Cover Sheet to designate whether the 
case is complex. If a plaintiff believes the case is complex under rule 3.400 of the California Rules of Court, this must be indicated by. 
completing the appropriate boxes In items I and 2. It a plaintiff designates a case as complex, the cover sheet must be served with the 
complaint on all parties to the action. A defendant may file and serve no later than the time of its first appearance a joinder In the 
plaintiff's designation, a counter-designation that the case is not complex, or. If the plaintiff has made no designation, a designation that 
the case Is complex. CASE TYPES AND EXAMPLES 
Auto Tort 

Auto (22)-Personal Injury/Property 
Damage/Wrongful Death 

Uninsured MotorIst (48) (If the 
case involves an uninsured 
motorist claim subject to 
e,blfratIon, check this Item 
Instead of Auto) 

Other PIIPD/WD (Personal lnjuryl 
Property Daniagelwrongfui Death) 
Tort 

Asbestos (04) 
Asbestos Property Damage 
Asbestos Personal Injury! 

Wrongful Death 
Product UabIDty (not asbestos or 

toxio'envlmnmentaQ (24) 
Medical Malpractice (45) 

Medical Malpractice- 
Physicians & Surgeons 

Other Professional Health Care 
Malpractice 

Other PIIPDIWD (23) 
Premises LiabIlity (e.g.. slip 

and fall) 
Intentional Bodily Injury1PDMD 

(e.g., assault vandalism) 
Intentional Infliction or 

Emotional Distress 
Negligent Infliction of 

Emotional Distress 
Other PIIPDIWD 

Non-PI/PD/WD (Other) Tort 
Business Tortitinfalr Business 

Practice (01) 
Civil Rights (e.g., discrimInation, 

false arrest) (not civil 
harassment) (08) 

Defamation (e.g., slender, libel) 
(13) 

Fraud (16) 
Intellectual Property (19) 
Professional Negligence (26) 

Legal Malpractice 
Other Professional Malpractice 

(not medical or legal) 
Other Non-PUPD/WD Tort (35) 

Employment 
Wrongful Temilnatlon (36) 
Other Employment (15) 

ProvIsionally Complex Civil Litigation (Cat. 
Rules of Court Rules 3,400-3.403) 

AntItrust/Trade Regulation (03) 
Construction Defect (10) 
Claims Involving Mass Tort (40) 
Securities Litigation (28) 
Environmentavloxlo Tort (30) 
Insurance Coverage Claims 

(arising from Provisionally complex 
case type fisted above) (41) 

Enforcement of Judgment 
Enforcement of Judgment (20) 

Abstract of Judgment (Out of 
County) 

Sister State Judgment 
Administrative Agency Award 

(not unpaid taxes) 
PetitlonlCertllicatlon of Entry of 

Judgment on Unpaid Taxes 
Other Enforcement of Judgment 

Miscellaneous Civil Complaint 
RICO (27) 
Other Complaint (not specified 

above) (42) 
Declaratory Relief Only 
Injunctive Relief Only (non- 

harassment) 
Mechanics Lien 
Other Conunercial Complaint 

Case (non-fox?In on-complex) 
Other Civil Complaint 

(non4orthon-c0n*4 
Miscellaneous Civil Petition 

Partnership and Corporate 
Govemance (21) 

Other Petition (not specified 
above) (43) 
Civil Harassment 
Workplace Violence 
Elder/Dependent Mull 

Abuse 
Election Contest 
Petition for Name Change 
Petition for Relief From Late 

Claim 
Other Civil Petition 

Contract 
Breach of Contract/Warranty (06) 

Breach of Rental/Lease 
Contract (not unlawful detalner 

or twongM ewcvon) 
ContractMarranty,  Breach-Seller 

Plaintiff (not fliudornegllgence) 
Negligent Breach of Contract! 

Warranty 
Other Breach of ContrsctMananty 

Collections (e.g., money owed, open 
book aounts) (09) 
Collection Case-Seller PlaIntiff 
Other PromIssory NoteiCollecllons 

Case 
Insurance Coverage (nolpmvlwonally 

complex) (is) 
Auto Subrogation 
Other Coverage 

Other Contract (37) 
Contractual Freud 
Other Contract Dispute 

Real Properly 
Eminent Domain/Inverse 

Condemnation (14) 
Wrongful EvIction (33) 
Other Real Property (e.g., quiet title) (28) 

Writ of Possession of Real Property 
Mortgage Foreclosure 
QuIet Title 
Other Real Property (not eminent 
domain, IandlordMnant or 
twethswe) 

Unlawful Defamer 
Commercial (31) 
ResIdential (32) 
Drugs (38) (If tire case ThvoWas tilegal 

drugs, check this item; otherwise, 
report as CommercJal or Residential) 

JudIcial Review 
Asset Forfeiture (05) 
Petition Re: Arbmntion Award (11) 
Wilt of Mandate (02) 

SWt-Adminlstrative Mandamus 
Writ-Mandamus on LimIted Court 

Case Matter 
Writ-Other Limited Court Case 

Review 
Other Judicial Review (39) 
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA. COUNTY OF.RIVERSIbE 
4050 Main Street 

Riverside, CA 92501 
wrtverslde.courts.ca.cov 

NO110E OF ASSIGNMENT TO DEPARTMENT 
AND CASE MANAGEMENT CONFERENCE (CRC 3.722) 

Lc111(SWbP1NkT401 MA [IJff! 

CASE NO. R1C1818751 

This case Is assigned to the Honorable Judge Craig G. Riemer in Department 05 for all purposes. 

The Case Management Conference Is scheduled fOr 11/13118 at tIC in Department 05. 

DepartmentS are located at 4050 Main St, Riverside, CA 92501. 

The plaintiff/cross-complainant shall serve a copy of this notice on all defendants/cross-defendants who 
are named or added to the complaint and file proof of service. 

Any disqualification pursuant to CCP section 170.6 shall be tiled in accordance with that section. 

Requests for accommodations can be made by submitting Judicial Council form MC-410 no fewer than 
five court days before the hearing. See California Rules of Court, rule 1.100. 

CERTIFICATE OF MAILING 

I certify that I am currently employed by the Superior Court of California, County of Riverside, and that I 
am not a party to this action or proceedIng. In my capacity, I am familiar with the practices and 
procedures used In connection with the mailing of correspondence. Such correspondence is deposited 
in the outgoing mail of the Superior Court. Outgoing mail is delivered to and mailed by the United States 
Postal Service, postage prepaid, the some day in the ordinary course of business. I certify that I served 
a copy of the foregoing NOTICE on this date, by depositing said copy as stated above. 

Court Executive OuficarlClerk 

Date: 09113116 by: 
LOURDES VILLANUEVA. 0 ty 

cag" 
12111114 
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JUN 1 9 2018 

William Turley, Esq. (122408) 
David Mara^Esq. (Z30498) 
Jill Vecchirfesq /̂(299333) 
Matthew Gra^ord, Esq^G 10230) 
THE TURLEY & MARA LAWFIRM, APLC 
7428Trade Street 
San Diego, Califomia 92121 
Telephone: (619) 234-2833 
Facsimile: (619) 234̂ 4048 

Attomeys for Plamtiffs CHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON 
and RONALD COOKSEY, on behalf of themselves, all 
others similarly situated, andvoh behalf of the general public. 

SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA 
IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF SACRAMENTO 

By: JjWora 
{_ Deputy Clerk 

CHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND 
RONALD COOKSEY, on behalf of 
themselves, all others sirnilarly situated, and 
oh behsdf of the general public, 

Plaintiffs, 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS; INC.; 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 
INC.; and DOES 1-100, 

Deferidaiits. 

PLAINTIFFS' GLASS AGTION 
COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES; 
INJUNCTIYE RELIEF, DECLARATORY 
RELIEF, AND RESTITUTION 

1) Failure to Pay AU Straight Time 

2) Failure to Piay All Gvertiine Wages; 
3) Failure to Provide Meal,Periods (Lab. 

Code §§ 226.7,512, IWG Wage Order 
No. 7̂ 2001(11); Gal. Code Regs., tit. 8 
§11090); 

4) Failure to Authorize and Permit Rest 
Periods (Lab. Code § 226.7; IWG 
Wage Order No. 7-2001(12); CaL 
Code Regs. Title 8 § 11090); 

5) Failure to Authorize and Permit 
Recovery Periods (Lab. Code § 226.7; 
Cal. Code Regs. Title 8 § 3395); 

6) Knowing and Intentional Failure to 
Comply with Itemized Einployee 
Wage Statement Provisions (Lab. 
Code §§ 226,1174,1175); 

7) Failure to Pay All Wages Due at the 
Time of Termination of Employment 
(Lab. Code §§201 -203); and 

8) Violation.df Unfair Competition Law 
(Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.). 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

BY FAX 
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Plaintiffs CHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD COOKSEY, on behalf of themselves, 

all others siiiiilarly situated, and oh behalf of the general public, comislaih of Defendants UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS \yEST, INC.; and/or DOES and for 

causes Of action and allege: 

1. This is a class action pui-suant to California Code of Civil Prdcedui-e section 382 oh biehali 

of Plaintiffs, CHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD COOKSEY, and all non-

exempt, hourly workers:who are presently pr'fonnerly employed by UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES and/or theii 

subsidiaries or affiliated companies and/or predecessors within the Staite of Califomia. 

2. At all times mentioned herein, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES have conducted business in Sacramento County and 

elsewhere within Califomia. 

3. At all times mentioned herein, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL 

F O O D S W E S T , INC.; and/or subsidiaries or affiliated companies and/or DOES, within th€ 

State of iCalifomia, have,, among other things, employed ctirrcht and former nbhrexempi 

employees. 

4. At all times mentioned herein, the common policies and practices of UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES were a direct 

cause of Defendants' and/or DOES' failure tp comply with California's wage and hours 

laws. Wage Orders, and/or the California Labor Code, as set forth more fully within. 

5. For at; least four (4) years prior to the; filing of this action and through to the present, 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC.; and/Or DOES have had a consistent policy and/or practice of not paying Plaintiffs 

and its Non-Exempt Employees for all of the hours they worked. 

6. For at least four (4) years pripr to the filing of this action and through to the present, 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST 

INC.; and/or DOES have had a continuous and widespread policy of not paying; Plaintiffs 
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and those similarly situated for all hours they worked,:incliiding befpre clocking 

work shift, after clocking Oiit for their work shift, md during .iihpjaid meal periods. Ftirther; 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC.; and/or DOES have had a continuous and widespread policy to shaye the time 

Plaintiffs and those similarly situated worked :(referred to as "time shaving''). 

7. For at least four (4) years pirior to the fiiing of this action arid throiigh to the present, 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST 

INC.; and/pr DOES have had a; cohtiniiOus arid Wideispread ;pdlicy bf "clbiikirig-btit' 

Plaintiffs arid those siiriilarly situated for thirty (30); minute irieal periods, even though 

Plaintiffs and those similarly situated were suffered and/or perinitted to work diu-ing these 

deductipri, periods, thereby deductirig thirty (30) minutes of paid tiriie, incliiding straighl 

time arid oVeirtiriie. 

8. For at least four (4); years prior, to the filirig pf this actipn and through to the present, 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WES.T 

INC.; and/or DOES have had a consistent policy and/or practice of failing to provide al! 

straight time and overtime wages owed to Non-Exempt Employees, as mandated under the 

Califomia Labor Code and the implementing rules and regulations of the Industrial Welfare 

Commission's ("IWC") California Wage Orders. 

9. For at least four (4) years prior to the filing of this action and through to the present 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST 

INC.; and/or DOES have had a consistent policy of requiring Non-Exempt Employees 

within the State of California, including Plaintiffs, to work thrpugh meal periods and work 

at least five (5) hours without a meal period and failing to pay such employees one (1) houi 

of pay at the employees' regular rate of compensation fOr each workday that thie meal 

period is not provided, or other compensatipn, as required by Califprnia's state wage and 

hpur laws, and deducting a half hours pay from thejr wages. 

1 d. Fbr at least four (4) years prior to filing of this action and thrbugh the present, Defendants 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT Exhibit B, Page 57

Case 5:18-cv-02382-VAP-SHK   Document 1-2   Filed 11/08/18   Page 4 of 36   Page ID #:60



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

io. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22, 

23 

2̂4 

:25: 

26 

27 

28 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FCDODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES did;nOt have a policy of allowing its hourlyenipioyeesjworking shifts of ten (10) ot 

more hours in a day to take a second meal period of not less than thirty (30) niinutes as 

required by the applicable Wage Order of the IWC. 

11. For at least four (4) years prior to the filing of this actiori and through to: the present, 

Defendarits UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC:; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

ING;, ; arid/Or DOES have had a consistent policy of requiring Non-Exerapt Emplpyees 

within the; Staite of California, ihcliidirig PlairitiffSj to work, over ten (10) hours withoul 

providing ari additipnaly uninterrupted meal period of thirty (30) minutes and failuig to pay 

stich employees one (l) hour of pay at the e:mplpyees' regular rate pf cpmpensation foi 

each workday that th(e>riied period: is riot provided, orb cdrriperisatibn, ais required by 

Califpmia's state wage and hour laws; 

12. Fpr at lieast four (4) ye^s prior to the filing of this .actipn and through to the present, 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST 

INC.; and/or DOES have had a consistent policy arid/or praictice of requiring its NOri-

Exempt EriiplOyees vvithiri the State of California, including Plaintiffs, to work for oyei 

four hours, or a majpr fi"actiPri thereof, without a 10 niiriute rest period, arid failing tp pay 

such emplpyees one (1) hour of pay at the erintployees' regular rate df cOiriperiisatibri foi 

each workday that the rgst period is not proyide, or other cpmpensation, asi required by 

;Calif6rriia'$! state Vyagie; arid hour lay/s. 

13. For at least four (4) years pribr to the filing of this actibn md: thi-bugh to the preserit, 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST 

INC.; and/or DOES have had a consistent policy and/or practice of failing to provide 

Plairitiffs and its Non-Exempt Employees with cool down recovery periods iri accordarice 

with California Code of Regulations, Title 8, section 3395. 

14. For at least four (4) years prior tb the filing of this action and through to the present 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST 
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INC.; arid/or DOES arid/or their officers arid/or riianaging agents have had a consistent 

policy and/or practice of willfully failing to provide to Plaintiffs and its Non-Exeriipt 

Employees, accurate iternized employee wage statenients. 

15. FOr at least four (4) years prior to the filing of this .actiOri arid through to the present, 

Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INGi; and/or DOES and/or their officers and/or managing ;agerits have had a consistent 

policy arid/or practice of \yillfully failirig to tiriiely pay wages ovved tO Plaintiffs and those 

Non-Exempt EriiplOyees who left Defendants UNITED NAttJRAL FOODS, INC.; 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES employ or who were 

temiiriated. 

16. For at least four, (4) -yeaî s priOr tb the filing; of diis actiori :arid thrbugh to the preserit, 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS;; INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, LNC; and/oi 

;DQES,. by failing to lawfully pay Plaintiffs and those siriiilarly situated ;all the wages they 

are owed, erigaged in false, urifair, fraudtilerit and deceptive busiriess'practices withiri the 

meaning of the;Business and.Professions Gbde::section 17200, et seq. 

17. Throughout the statiitory period. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' employees, including Plaintiffs anc • 

similarly situated Non-Exempt Employees, were not provided all straight time anc 

overtime wages owed, meal periods and rest periods, or compensation in lieu thereof, as 

niandated under the California Labor Code, and the implemeritirig rules and iregulatibris Oi 

the Industrial Welfare Commissions ("IWC") California Wage Orders. 

18. Throughout the statutory period, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES employees, including Plaintiffs anc 

similarly situated Non-Exempt Employees were not provided with accurate and itemizec 
c ' • • • 

employee wage statements. 

19. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES failed to cpmply with Labor Code s;ection 226, subdivision (a), by itemizing in wage 
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staternerits all hourly cpmpensation and accurately repprting tptal hours wpfked by 

Plaintiffs arid the members Of the proposed class. Plairitiffs'aridiriiembers of the propbsed 

class are entitled to penalties not to exceed $4,000 for each employee pursuant tp Labor 

Cpde section 226(b). 

20. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; arid/oi 

DOES have failed to comply with IWC Wage Order 742001(7) by failing tb maintain 

accurate time recprds showing hourly compensatipn, vvhen the enriployee begins and ends 

each work day arid total daily hbui-s worked by iteiriizirig in wage statements and accurately 

reporting total hours worked by Plaintiffs and members of tiie proposed class. 

21. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.'S 

and/or DOES' failure to retain accurate records of total hours worked by Plaintiffs and the 

proposed class was willful and deliberate, was a continubus breach of UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/oi 

DOES' duty Owed to Plaintiffs and the proposed class. 

22. Throughout the statutory period, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' employees, iricluding Plaintiffs anc 

similarly situated Non-Exempt Employees, were not timely paid all wages owed to them 

at the time of termiriation. 

23. Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

/ INC.; and/or DOES are arid were aware that Plairitiffs and meriibers pf the proposed class 

were nOt paid all straighl time and overtime wages owed, nor provided meal and rest 

periods. Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' denial of wages and other compensation due to 

Plaintiffs and members of the proposed class was willful and deliberate. 

24. Deferidants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST 

INC.; and/or DOES, each and collectively, controlled the wages, hours, and workirig 

coriditions of Plaintiffs and the proposed class, creating a joint-employer relationship ovei 
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Plairitiffs and the proposed class. 

25. Plaintiffs CHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD COOKSEY, bri behalf ol 

themselves and all of UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' Nori-Exempt Employees, briiig this action 

pursuant to Califorriia Labor Code sections 218,218;5,222,223,224,226, subd. (b), 226.7 

510,512,515, Ssis, 1194,1197, and California Code of Regulations, Title 8, sections 11090 

and 3395, seeking uripaid wages, pvertinie, meal "Mid rest period cpmpensation, penalties: 

irijurictiveiand other equitable :relief,.arid reasbriableiattonieys' feies and costs. 

26: Plainfiffs CHRISTOPHER: BILLINGTON AND RONALD COOKSEY, on behalf ol 

themselves and all putative Class members made up of UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' non-exempt 

employees, pursuant tb. Califomia Business and Professions Code sections 17200T17208, 

also seek injunctive relief, restitution, and disgorgement pf all benefits UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES 

enjoyed from their failure to pay all straight time wages, overtime wages, and meal anc 

rest pesriod competisation. ' 

L VENUE 

27. Venue as to each Defendant, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES, is proper in this judicial district, pursuant to Code oi 

Civil Procedure section 395. Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES conduct business and commit Laboi 

Code violations within Sacramento County, and each Defendant and/or DOE is within 

California for service of process purposes. The unlawful acts alleged herein have a direct 

effect on Plairitiffs and those similarly situated within the State of Califomia and within 

Sacramento County. Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; arid/or DOES employ numerous Glass menibers who 

work iri: Sacrarnentp County, m 
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n. PARTIES 

A. Plaintiffs. 

28. At all relevant times herein. Plaintiffs CHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD 

COOKSEY are and were residents of Califorriia. At all relevarit tiriies herein,, diey were 

eriiployed by Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, LNC; UNITED NATURAL 

FQOPS WEST, INC.; and/or,DOES within the last four (4) years as:non-exempt, hourly 

ernployeesfiri California. 

29. Ori irifbrmation arid belief, Plaintiffs arid all Other merribers of the prbposed class 

experienced Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' common company policies of failing tP pay all 

straight time and overtiriie wages owed. 

30. On information and belief. Plaintiffs and all other members of the proposed class 

experienced Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' common company policies of illegally deducting 

wages from employees for meal periods duringiwhich they were performing work. 

31. On information and belief. Plaintiffs and all other members of the proposed class 

experienced Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' common company policies and/or practices ol 

failing to pay all straight tinie and overtime wages owed, and failing to provide compliani 

meal periods to employees before the end of their fifth hour of wOrk or a second meal 

period before the end ofthe tenth hour or work, orcompensation in lieu thereof. 

32. On informatiori and belief, Plairitiffs and all other members of the proposed class 

experienced Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' common company pplicies of failing to provide 

ten (IO) minute paid rest breaks, to eniployees whom worked four (4) hours or majoi 

fractions thereof 

33. On information and belief, Plaintiffs and all other members of the proposed class 
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experienced Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, FNC.'S; arid/or DOES' common conipany policies of failing tO provide 

cool down recovery periods. 

34. On information and belief, P;laintiffs and all other menibers of the prpppsed class 

experienced,Defendarits UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WESTi INC.'S; and/or DOES'common company policies of failing to prbvide 

Non-Exempt Employees with accurate itemized wage statements. On infprmatipn and 

belief, Deiferidarifs and/or DOES failure tb provide to their Nori-Exeriipt Employees, 

including Plaintiffs^ with accurate'itemized wage itatemerits was willful. 

35. Ori information and belief; Plaintiffs arid all other members pf the prpppsed class 

experienced Defendarits UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC:'S; and/or DOES' coriimon cbnipariy policies of failuig to tiriiely 

coriipensate Non-Exempt Eiriployees' all wages owed upon̂  terrninatioiii On information 

arid belief. Defendants' arid/or DOES' failure to pay, in a tirinely meinrier, compensation 

owed fb Non-Exeiript Einplbyees, iricludirig Plaintiffs, upOri terrniriatibri of theii 

eniplpyment \yith UNITED NATURAL INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, Mc.; arid/or DOES was vdUful. 

36. On informatibri arid belief, Plairitiffs arid all other TOerribers of the proposed class 

experienced Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.'S; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' fraudulent and deceptive business practices within 

the meaning of the Busiriess arid Professions Code sectibri 1-7200; et seq. 

37. Plaintiffs and the; prpppsed class are covered by, intesr alias Califprnia IWG Occu^ 

Wage Order No. 7-2001, and Titie 8, California Code of Regulations, §§ 11090 and 3395, 

B. Defendants. 

38. At all relevant times herein, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES engage in the owriership and operation of facilities 

which distributes natural, organic, and specialty foods and non-food products. ^ 
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39. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. and UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, ING. have 

been takirig care of "Gategoiy Mariageriierit," "Merchandising," "Marketirig,'' 

"eCommerce Solutions,"; "Mobile Ordering," and "Delivery Alerts" for different 

busiiriesses for 40 years. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, iNCi, https://vvvvw.unfi.coni/, (Last 

visited June 14'", 2018). UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING. and UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC. provide "over 10,000". products for any ^'store,Mtchen and website' 

all over the U.S. Id. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. and UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, ING. have "33 distribution centers" and "1,000 trticks" to deliver those 

products. Id 

40. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. and UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC 

claim that "attracting good people, and keepirig theirii, is essential to the strategy of a 

successful company." UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., https://unfi-operihire.silkroad.com/, 

(Last visited June 14* 2018). UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING. and UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC. claim to understand tiiat their company's "vitality 

depends on the quality of [their] staff" Id. 

41. What UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. and UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST 

INC. fail to ackno\yledge is that to keep the high quality of tiieir staff, they need to pay the 

staff for all hours worked. This is something that UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING. and 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC. fail to do without consequence and if tiiey 

continue tp do so they will see that their "vitality" will undoubtedly lessen. 

42. On infonnation and belief, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, ING.; and/or DOES exercised corifrpl over the wages, hours, and/oi 

vyorking conditions of Plaintiffs and members ofthe proposed class throughout the liabilit> 

43. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES priricipal place bf business is iri the State of Galifornia. 

44. The true names and capacities, whether individual, corporate, associate, or otherwise, ol 
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Deferidants DOES 1-100, inclusive, are presently unknOvyri.to Plairitiffs, who therefore 

sues these Defendarits by such fictitious names urider Code of CivilProcedure section 474 

Plaintiffs are infonTie:d and believes,vand based therepn allege;s, that each ofthe Defendants 

designated herein as a 'DOE is legally responsible in sphie ipzinner for the uiilawful acts 

referred tb herein.,Plaintiffs will seek leave of cOiirt tb amerid this Complaint to;re]flect the 

true names and capacities of the Defendants designated hereinafter as DOES when such 

ideritities becoriie knpwri; 

45. Plairitiffs are inforriiecl and believes, and based thereon.alleges, that eabĥ Defendairit arid/oi 

DOE acted in all respects pertinent to this action as the agent of the other Deifendantsiand/oi 

DOES,, carriied out a jpint: schertie, .business plari pr policy in all; respects pertinent hereto, 

and the acts bf each Defendarits arid/bi DOES are legally attributable to :the othei 

Defendantsand/or DOES. 

m. GLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS 

46. Plairitiffs bririg this, action On behalf of thernselves and all Others similarly situated as a 

class action pursuant to section 382 of the; Califorriia Code of Civil Procedure. Plaintiffs 

seek to represent a Glass composed pf and defined as follows: 

All persoris who are eriiployed or have been eiriplpyed; by 

Defendants in the State of California as' hourly, Npn-Exempti 

vvbi"kers\duririĝ the period of the rele^ 

Plaintiffs alsp seek tp represerit subclasses cpmposeid of and; defined as;; follo>ys: 

All persons who are or have been employed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC.; and/or E)GES in the: State of Califorriia as hourly, NOri-

Exernpt workers during the period of the'relevant statute of 
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limitations, who; worked one (I) Or more shifts iri eixcess of five; (5) 

hours. 

A|l persons who are Or have been eniplOyed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC.; and/or DOES in tiie State of California as hourly, Non-

Exempt workers during the period Of the relevanit statute of 

liriiiitatioris, who worked one (1): or riiore shifts, iri excess of six: (6) 

hours. 

All persons who are or have beeri erriployed by .UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS; INC.;:UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC.; and/or DOES iri the State of Califprnia as; hourly, Non-

Exeritipt workers during the period bf the relevarit statute of 

limitations, who worked one (1) or niore shifts in excess of teni(10) 

.hours, 

Ail persons who are or have beein employed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS. INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

ING,; and/or DOES in the State of Galifbrriia as hourjy, :Nori-

Exeriipf workers during the period of the relevant statute of 

limitationŝ  who Ayprked one (1) prmore shifts in excess of twelve 

(12) hours. 

All persons who are or have been emplpyed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS. WEST, 

INC.; and/pr DOES in the State of Califprnia as houriy, Non-
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Exeiript ŵorkers during the period of the relevarit statute of 

limitations, who worked one (1) or more shifts in excess of two (2) 

hours. 

All persons who are or have been employed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, ING.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

ING:; arid/br DOES in the State of Califomia as hOuriy, Nori-

Exempt workeirs during the; period of the relevairit: statute of 

limitatipnSi who vvorked one (1) or mpre shifts in-exce;ss of three (3) 

hour arid Orie-hidf hours, but, less than Or equal to six (6): hours, 

All persons who are or have been emplpyed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, rNC ; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC:; and/br DOES, in the State .of Califomia as hourly, Nbri:-

Exempt workers during the period of tiie relevant statute of 

liriiitatioris, who worked one (1) or more shifts in excess of six (6) 

houirsi; but less thari or equal to teri (16) ;hOxirs. 

All persoris vvhO are or have been employed by UNITED 

N A T U R A L FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

ING;;! and/pr DOES irij tiie Sta;te pf Califprnia as hpurly, Non-

Exeirnpt, vvprkefs diiring the: period, bf the; relevarit statute of 

iiriiitatibns, ;whb;worked bne (1) bi" riibrfe shifts iriexcesis Often (10) 

hours. 

All persons wlib are or have been eriiployed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC ; UNITED NATURAL FpODS WEST, 
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INC.; and/br DOES in the State of California as hoiiily, Non-

Exempt workers during the period of the relevant statute of 

limitations;, who separated, their employment from Deferidants, 

All persOris who are or have beeri employed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL ,FQODS WEST, 

INC.; arid/br EiOES in the State Of Galifornia as hourly, Non-

Exempt wbrkeris duririg the peribd of the relevant statute of 

limitatipns, who worked pne (1) or more sliifts in which they 

received; a Avage stateriieritfor the cOitespbridirig;jpay period. 

All perspns; who are pr haye been emplpyed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC.; and/or DOES in the State bf California as hourly, Norî  

Exempt workers during -the period of the relevarit statute of 

UriiitatioriSi who were, deducted wages for ntieal periods., 

47: Plaintiffs reserve the right under rule 1855, subdivision (b), California Rules of Court, to 

amend or modify the Glass description with greater specificity or fiirther diVisiOri into 

subclasses Or limitation to particular issues. 

48. This actipn has been brought and inay prpperly be maintained as a clasS' actipn under the 

provisions;of sectipn 382:of tiie GaliforriiiaG 

defirieid cbmriiuiiity of interest in the litigatibri arid the prbposied Class iiS; easily 

ascertainable. 

Ai ;NumerositV. 

49. The potential riieriibers' of the: Glass as defiried are so riuriierous that joinder of all the 

members of the Class is impractipable. While the precise number of Glass niembers has 
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not been determined at this tirrie. Plaintiffs is irifonried and believes that UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, ING:; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES 

currently employ, and during the liability period employed, over fifty (50) employees, all 

iri the State of California, in.positions as hourly non-exernpt eniployees. 

50. Accounting fOr erriployee tuniover during the relevant periods iricreases this niiriibei 

substantially. Upon information and belief. Plaintiffs allege UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

ING;'S; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST,, INC.'S; and/pr DOES' employment 

recbrds will provide infOrniatibn as tO the riuriiiber ariii Ibcatiori of all Clasŝ  riiertlbers 

Joinder of all members bf the proposed Glass is not practicable: 

B. Commonality. 

51. There eire questioris bf laVv arid fact cbriimori to the Glass that predbrriinate over ariy 

questions .affecting; only individual Class members. These cOriruhon questions of law anc 

fact include, without limitatiori: 

(1) Whether UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS Vi^ST,;iNG.; arid/or DOES viblated tiie Labor Code 

and/or applicable IWG Wage Orders in failing tp pay its nonrexempt 

vvprkers:all eamed wages at the regular rate for aU hoiirs worked, 

(2) Whether UNITED NATURAL FOODS, iNC.'S; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' uniform policies 

anci/pr practices vyhereby non-exempt wprkers were pressured arid/pr 

iriceritivî ed to forego takirig irieal arid/or rest periods; 

(3) Whetiier UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES violated Labor Code 

section 226.7, IWC Wage Order No. 7-2001 or other applicable IWC Wage 

Orders, and/or Galifpmia Code of Regulations, Title 8, section 11090, by 

ifailing tb authorize, permit, and/or provide rest periods to its hourly, non-

exempt employees for eveiy four (4) hours or major fractibn thereof worked 
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and/or failing to pay said employees one (I) houi- of pay at the employee's 

regular rate of compensation for each work day that the<rest.period vvas not 

authorized, permitted and/or prpvided. 

(4) Whether UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, ING;; and/or DOES violated Labor Code 

section 226.7 and/or Galifornia Gpde pf Regulatipns, Title 8, sectipn 3395, 

by failing tp authorize; permit, arid/br pi:bvide recovery periods to its hourly, 

ribn-exempt employees in accordarice with section 3395:, 

(5) Whether UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES willfiilly failed to pay, in 

a tiriiely manrief, waiges owed toriieriibers bfthe projKised Class who left 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.'S; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST,,INGE'S; ancl/or:DOES' employ or who were tenninated. 

(6) Whetiier UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.;; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.;; and/or DOES violated Labor Code 

section 203, which; provides fpr the ;assess.ment pf a penalty against the; 

enriployer, by willfully failing tb tiriiely pay all, wages owed to eniployees 

who left UNITED NATURAL FOODSy INC 'S;; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' :employ or who were termiriateti. 

(7) Whetiier UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; arid/br DOES had uriiforai policies 

and/pr practices of failing to provide employees accurate and itemized wage 

statements. 

(8) Whetiier UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, ING.; and/br DOES had uniform policies 

and/or pi*actices.of failing to timely pay all wages owed to employees who 

left UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.'S; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 
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WEST, ING.'S; and/or DOES' employ or who were termiriateti. 

52.. The answer to each of these respective questions will generate a.comiribn answer capable 

of resolving class-wide liability in one stroke, 

53. Said coriiriion questioris predoriiinate over any individualized isisues arid/or qiieistioris 

affecting only iridividual members.. 

G. Typicality. 

54. The claims of the named Plaintiffs aufe typical of the claims of the proposed class. Plaintiffs 

arid an members ofthe prbpbsed class sustained irijuriesarid daniages arising but of aric 

caused by UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.'S; UNII ED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC.'S; and/or DC)EiS' cortimbn cpurse Of conduct in violatipri of laws arid regulations that 

;haye the force arid-effect bf law and statutes as alleged. 

55. Plaintiffs GHRISTOPHERBILLINGTON AND RONALD COOKSEY were subjected to 

the saiTie uniform policies ;ajid/pr practices complairied of herein that affected all such 

eniplbyees. Thus, as CHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD COOKSEY were 

subjected to the same unlawful policies and practices as all hourly non̂ exempt employees, 

thefr clairns are typical of the class thesy seek to represent: 

D. Adequacy of Represeritation. 

56: Plairitiffs will fafrly and adequately represent and protect the mterests bf tiie members o 

the Glass, 

57. Plairitiffs are ready auid wiliing^tb tiake the tiitte riecessary to help litigate: this case. 

58- Plaintiffs have no cpnflicts that will disallow them to,fairly and adequately represent and 

protect the interests of the members pf the Glass. 

59. Counsel who represent Plairitiffs are cOriipeterit and experienced iri litigating large 

employmentclass actipns. 

60. Specifically, WillJani Turley, Esq-, David Mara, Esq., Jill Vecchi,, Esq., and Matthew 

Crawford, Escj. are California lawyers,iri:gbod standing. 

61: Mr, Turley regularly lectures ̂ lawyers on vvage and hour class actipn issues; He has been: a 
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featured speaker on many ACI Wage and HOur Glass; Action presentations arid Gbnsuri)ei 

Attorney ofCalifomia Wage and Hour Class Action presentations. 

62. Mr. Turley is listed as Arnicus counsel on over 20 Gailifprnia Supreme Clourt decisioris. 

63. Mr; Turley arid Mr. Mara wrote winning; amicus briefs in two yerŷ  worker friendly 

California Supreme Court cases; Augustus v, ABM Security. Servs. (2016) 2 Gal.5th 257 

and Willtqms v, Superior Court (decided July 13, 2017). 

64. Mir. Turieiy is a Î ast Priesident of Gorisiimer Attorrieys of Sari Diegp and has been elected 

to the Board Of Govemors of the Gorisiiriiei- Attorrieys of Califoniia for ove;r 15 years. Mr. 

Turley is currentiy pn and has been a member pf the Gonsumer Attorneys of California 

Amicus Ciirie Cbmfruttee for over 2̂^ 

65. Mr. Turley has had over l OO legai articles published, iricluding some on Galifbrriia Labor 

Code. 

66. Mr. Turley and Mr. Mara were appointed class counsel in the;:landinark CalifprniafSupreme 

Court ;case; Briiiker V. Superior GOurt arid have beeri appointed as class ixturisel in ritiariy 

Galifornia wage and hour cases, in both State Gourt:and-Federal Court. 

6.7. Mr. Turley testified before the California Senate in a cpriimittee hearing on September 3 

2015, regardirig the new piece-rate bill, Califorriia Labor Code § 2262. 

68, On April 12,2016 and April 20,2016, Mr. Turley testified in front bf the California Senate 

riegarding an amendment to Galifornia Laljor Gode §§ 26^ ,̂ et seq:, the "Private Attorneys 

Gerierai Act" or "PAGA." Furtheirobre, Mr. Turley also participated iri drafting the new 

amendment to PAGA- ^ 

69. The Turley & Mara Law Firm, APLC haye the resources to take this case, to trial and 

judgment, if riecessary. 

70. Mr. Turley and Mr. Mara have the experience, ability, and ways and means to vigorously 

prosecute this case. 

E. Superiority of Class Action. 

71, A class actipn is superior to other available means for the fair and efficient adjudication o 
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this coritroversy. Individiial joinder of all Class members iis ribt practicable, arid questions 

of law and fact common to the Class predominate over any questions affectirig orily 

individual members of the Glass. Each member of the Glass has been damaged :and is 

entitled to recovery by reason Of UNITED NATURAL F(DODS, ING.'S; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' illegal policies arid/or practices ol 

failing to pay all straight tune and overtime wages owed, failing to permit or authorize rest 

peribds, failing tO prOyide meal peribds. kriowirigly and iritentiprially failing^^^ cpmply vvith 

wage statemerit requirements,, and failing tO pay all wages due at tenriiriatiori. 

72. Class actiori treatment vvill allow those similarly situated persons fo- litigate their claiins:in 

tile riiaririer that is riiost efficient and ecOrioniical for the parties and the judicial system 

Plaintiffs are unaware; of ariy difficuhies that are likely tb be encbuntered iri. the 

management pf this action that would preclude its maintenancê as a class action. 

73; Because such coriinion questions predornipate over any iridividualized issues and/or 

questibris affectirig Only iridividual riiembers, class:resolution;is siiperior to other; methods 

for fair and efficierit adjudication. 

/.// 

Nl 

ly. CAUSES OF ACTION 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST UNITED NATURAL FOODS. INC.; 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST. INC.; AND/OR DOES; Failure to Pay AI 
Straight Time Wages 

74. Plaintiffs arid those suriilarly sitiiated Class membefs hereby iricOrpbrate by refererice each 

and every other paragraph in this Cpmplaint herein as i f fully plead. 

75. Deferidarits arid/or DOES have had a contiriuous policy pf not paying Plaintiffs and those 

similarly isituated for all houirs worked. 

76'. It is fundamental that an employer must pay its employees fpr all tiriie worked. Califomis 

Labor Code isections 2i 8 and 218,5 provides a right of-action for rioripayrtient of wages, 

Labor Code section 222 prohibits the vvithhbldirig bf part bf a wage. Labor Code sectibri 
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223 prohibits the pay of less than a statutory or contractual wage scale. Labor Code sectiori 

1197 prohibits the pay ment of lesis than the miniriium wage. Labpr Code section 1194 states 

that an eniployee receivirig less than the legal minimum wage is entitiied to recover in a 

civil action the unpaid balance of the full amourit bf tliis minimum vvage. Laboi" Code 

section 224 only permits deductions from wages when the employer is required bi 

empowered to do so by state or federal Ijaw or when the deduction is expressly authorized 

in writirig by the eriiployee for specified purposes that do not have the effect of reducing 

the agreed upon wage. 

77: Plairitiffs arid those similarly situated Glass ri^enibers were employed by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES at 

all relevant times: UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WESTJ INC.; and/or DOES vverê .requfred to cpntipensate Plaintiffs for all hpiirs worked 

arid were; prohibited from making deductions that had:the .effect of reducing; the agreed 

upon wage. 

78. Defendants and/or DOES; have a continuous and cpnsistent pplicy of clpcking-out Plaintiffs 

and those siriiilarly situated for a thirty (30) miriute meal period;.even,though:Plaintiffŝ M^ 

all meriibers bf the Class work tMbugli tiiefr meal periods. Thusj UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS, ING:; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES do not pay 

Plaintiffs arid each arid every meriiber Of the Ciass for all time worked each and every day 

they work without a meal/peribd arid have tinnie deducted. 

79. plaintiffs and thpse similarly situated Glass me;mbers are iiifonned arid bejieye and there:pn 

allege that UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC.; and/or DOES breached the legal duty to pay full wages to Plaintiffs by deducting a 

portipn of the wages earned when Plaintiffs' and the Class members' actual time records 

indicate tiiat a meal period was not takeri. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC,; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES did not make reasonable efforts tc 

determirie whether the time deducted was; actually worked as reported by Plaintiffs anc 
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Glass members. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC.; and/or DOES, without a reasonable basis, presumed that actual reportec 

hours had not been accurately reported; The conduct complairied of is a form pf what is 

spmetiniies called "dinging," "shaving," or "scrubbing" and is;prbhibited by law. 

80. Defendants and/or DOES have a continubus and,consistent policy of not paying Plaintiffs 

and; those similarly situated for all time worked, including before Plairitiffs and those 

similarly 'situated clock iri for vvork shifts arid aft̂ ^̂  

81. Defetidaits and/br DOES have a contiriuous arid cbrisistbnt policy bf shaving the tune 

Plaintiffs and thpse similarly: situated work (referred to as "time shaving"). 

82. Thus, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; 

"and/br ElOES shave/steal earned wages frorii Plairitiffs and each arid every merriber of the 

Glass each and every day they work, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, iNC:; and/or DOES have not paid Plaintiffs and tiie memben 

bf the class all sfraight time wages Owed. 

83. Plamtiffs and the Class members are informed and believe and thereon allege that as a 

direct result of Deferidants' and/or DOES' uniform policies and/or practices. Plaintiffs arid 

the Class menibers have suffered, and continue tO suffer, substantial uripaid wages, arid 

lost intereston such wages, and expenses and attomeys'Tees in seeking to cpmpel UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC;;;UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, ING ; and/or DOES to 

fiilly perfprtii their obligatiOris imder state law, alltb; their respective: damage ih amounts, 

accbrding t̂o proof at trial. 

84. Asa direct result of UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING-'S; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' policy of illegal wage theft, Plaintiffs and those similarly 

situated have been damaged in an amount to be proven at trial. 

85. WHEREFQFLE, Plaintiffs and the Class they seek to represent request relief as describee 

belbw. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST UNITED NATURAL FOODS. ING ;̂ 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST. INC.; AND/OR DOES: Failure to Pay All 
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Overtime Wages 

86. Plaintiffs and thpse'sirnilarly situated Class members hereby incorporate by reference each 

and every other paragraph in this Gbmplaint herein as if futiy plead. 

87. It is fundamental that an employer must pay its employees for all time worked.. Califomis 

Labpr Code sectibns 218 and 218,5 provides a right of action for nonpaynient pf wages. 

Labor Gode section 222 prohibits: the withholding Of part of a wage. Labor "Code, sectiori 

223 prohiijits the pay of less than a statutory or confractual wage scale. Labor Cbde sectibn 

1197 prphibits the payment of less than the miriinium wage. Labor Code section 224 only 

penriits deductions from wages wheri the, employer is i-equired Or eriipowered to do:so by 

state or federal law or when the deduction is expressly authbrized iri writing by the 

emplpyee for ispepified purposes that do not have the effect of reducing the agreied uppr 

wage. 

88. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES failed: to pay overtime vvhen employees worked oyer eight (8) hpurs per clay anc 

when einployees \vorked over forty (40) hours per ̂ yeek. 

89. Plaintiffs and those similarly situated Glass members were employed :by UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST. ING.; and/or DOES at 

all relevant times. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC.; and/or DOES were required to comperisate Plaintiffs for all overtime hours 

worked and were prohibited from making deductions that had the effect of reducing the 

agreed upon wage. 

90. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED.NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC:; and/oi 

DOES failed to pay for the overtime that was due, pursuant to IWG Wage Order No. 7 

2001, item 3(A). 

91. Plaintiffs and the Class members are iriformed arid believe arid thereon allege that as a 

direct result of Defendants' and/or DOES' uniform policies and/pr practices, Plairitiffs and 

the Glass members have suffered, and continue to suffer, substantial unpaid overtime 

wages; and lost iriterest on: such overtime wages, and expenses and attorneys' fees in 
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seeking to compel UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC.; and/or DOES tb fully perform their obligations under state law, all to tiieii 

respective damage; in amounts accordirig tp proof at time, pf trial. UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, ENG.; and/pr DOES committed the 

acts alleged herein knowirigly arid v/illfiilly, with thewrorigful and deliberate intention ori 

injuring Plaintiffs and tiie Glass members. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, ING,; and/or DOES acted vyitii malice or in conscious 

disregard of Plaintiffs" and the Class Member's rights. In addition to comperisatibri 

Plaintiffs is also entitied to any penalties allowed by law. 

92; WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs arid the Glass they seek to represeritTcquest relief as described 

below. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST UNITED NATURAL FOODS. INC. 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST. INC.; AND/OR DOES; Failure to ProVidiE 
MealPeriods, or GompensatiOn in Lieii Thereof (Lab. Code §§ 226.7j 512, IWC Wagi 
Order No. 7-2001(11); Gal. GodeRegs., tit. 8̂  

93. Plaintiffs and those siriiilarly situated Class riiemljers hereby incorporate by reference each 

and :every; other paragraph in this Complaint herein as i f fiilly plead; 

94. Under Galiforriia Labor Code sectibri 512 arid IWC Wage Order No. % np eniployer shall 

employ any persori fOr a work.period of riibre than five (5) hours withbut prbvidirig/a meal 

period of not less than thirty (3 0) rninutes; During thi s ineal periods of not less than thirty 

.(3,0) riiiriutes, the eiriplbyee is to. be completely freejof the erriplpyer's cpntrpl arid miist nbl 

perform any work for the erhplbyer. Ijf the eniployee dOes:perfbmi vvork for tlie eriiployei 

during the thirty (30). minute meal period̂  the employee has not been providesd a meal 

period iri accordarice with the law: Also. thê  eiriplbyee is to be coriiperisated for any work 

performed duririg the thirty (30) minute meal period. 

95. Iri addition, an employer may not employ an emplpyee for a wprk period of ntiore than ten 

(lb) hbiirs per day withoiit prbvidirig the employee with ariother riiesal peribd of less than 

tiiirty (30) minutes. 

96. Under Califoniia Labor Gode,section226.7, i f the employer tipesnpt provide anemployee 
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a meal period in accordance with the above requireirients, the employer shall pai.y the 

employee one (1) hour of pay at the eriiplOyee's regular rate of compensation for each 

workday that the meal period is not provided. 

97. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; arid/bi 

DOES failed to provide thirty (30) minute, iuiiriternipted riieal periods to its Nbri-Exempt 

Einployees who worked fpr work periods of mpre than five (5) consecutive hours. As such, 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES noh-exeriipt eriiployees were required to work over five.(5) cOrisecutive hbtirs;at:a 

time without being provided a thirty (30) minute, uninterrupted meal period vvitiiiri that 

time. 

98. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES failed to provide thirty (30) minute, uninterrupted meal periods to its Non-Exempt 

Employees for every five (5) continuous hours worked. 

99. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.'S; ..UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.'S; 

and/or DOES' business model is such that Nbn-Exempt Employees were assigned: too 

much work and insufficient help due to chronic understaffing to be able to take mea! 

periods. Thus, Nori-Exempt Einployees are not able to take meal periods. 

100. Throughout the statutbry period, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; arid/or DOES had a pattem and practice, of assignirig 

too much work tp be coriapleted in too short of time frariies, resulting in Plaintiffs and those 

simil̂ -ly situated not being able to take meal periods. 

101. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING,; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES would not permit Plaintiffs and the Glass tb take 30-minute riieial peribds uriless 

specifically scheduled by Defendants and/or DOES or unless Plaintiffs and the Glass were 

expressly told to by Defendants and/or DOES, This routinely resulted in Plaintiffs and the 

Glass meriibers not being able to take a meal period, if at all, until after the fifth hour. 

102. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 
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DOES did riot have a policy of prpvidirig a second meal peiriod before the erid Of the tenth 

hour. 

103. Failing to provide compensation fpr such unprovided or improperly proyicled meal periods, 

as alleged aboye, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC.;;and/or DOES willfully violated tiie provisions of Labor Cbde sectibris 2i26.7, 

512, and IWC Wage Order No. 7: 

104. As a result of the unlavvfiil acts of UNITED NATURAL FOOD.Ŝ  TNG:; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES, Plairitiffs arid the Class they seek to 

represent have been deprived of premium wages, in amounts to be detennined at frial, anc 

are entitled to recovery of such amounts, pluŝ înterestand penalties tiierepn; attorneys' fees 

arid costs, pursuant to Labor Cbde isection 226.7̂  and IWC Wage Order No. 7-2001 

Plairitiffs arid the Glass they seek to represent did not willfully waive their right to take 

meal periods tiirough mutual consent v/itii UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING,; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/Or DOES. 

105. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs arid tihe Glass tiiey seek to represerit request relief as described 

belipw. 

FOURTH CAUSE OF A G T I O N AGAINST UNITED NATURAL FOODS. INC. 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST. INC.; AND/OR DOES; Failure to Authorize 
and Permit Rest Periods (Lab, Gode § 226.7; TWG Wage Order No. 7-2001(12); Gal 
Gode Regs: Title 8 §11090) 

106. Plaintiffs arid those siniilarly 'situated Class niiembers hereby iricorporate by refer^^ 

and eveiy bther paragraph in this Cbi^^ 

107. Under IWG Wage Order No. 7, every employer shall authorize and permit all emplpyees 

to take rest periods; "[t]he authorized resit period tiriie :shali be based on the total hours 

worked daily ait the rate of ten (10) minutes net rest time per four (4) hours worked or majoi 

fraction; therepf"; IWG Wage; Order 7-2001(12). The:timespent on rest periocls "shall be 

counted as hburs worked fbr which there shall; be no dediictibn from wa 

108. Under Califomia Labor Code section 226:7, if the employer does npt provide: an emplpyee 

a rest periPd in accordance with the above requireriierits, the employer shall pay the 
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eniployee one (1) hour Of pay at the eriiployee's regular rate of cprnpensation for each 

workday that tiie meal peribd is not provided. 

109. At all relevjint :tiriies. Defendants and/or DOES failed to authprize and/or permit rest perioc 

time based uppn the total hpurs worked daily at the. rate pf ten (10) niinutes;net rest time 

per four (4) hours: Or niajOr fractibri' thereof 

110. In tiie altemative, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC.; and/br DOES business mpdel was such that Nbn-Exenipf Employees were 

assigned tbO mucli work witii insufficient help due to chronic understaffing whereby 

Plaintiffs and the:Class had to work* through their rest periods. 

111. Throughout the stattitory period, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES had a patterii arid practice of assigning 

tob much work to be completed iri too short of time frariies,; resultirig in Plairitiffs arid those 

similarly situated not being able to take rest periods, 

112. As a result Of tiie unlawfiil acts of UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES, Plaintiffs and the Glass they seek to 

represent have been deprived pf premium wages, in arnpunts to be determined at tried, :and 

are entitled to recOveiy of such ariiounts, plus iriterest arid;perialties tiiereOri, attonieys' fees 

and costs, piirsuarit to Labor Code sectibn 226.7, arid IWG Wage Order No. 7^2001. 

113. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and the Glass they seek to represent request relief as described 

belo\y. 

FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST UNITED NATURAL FOODS. INC.; 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST. INC.; AND/OR DOES; Failure to Proyide 
Recovery Periods (Lab. Code § 226̂ 7; Cal. Code RegS; title 8 § 3395) 

114; ;Plaintiffs andthose simUarlŷ ŝ  

and every other paragraph iri this Gornplaint herem, as if fully plead. 

115. Under Califorriia Gode of Regulations, Title 8, sectibri ;3395(d)(l), "[Wihen tlie oufdooi 

temperature in tiie work area exceeds 80 degrees Fahrenheit, the employer shall have and 

riiaintairi orie Or rnpre areas vvith shade at all times while, ;emplbyees are present that are 
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either open to the air or provideti.with ventilatiori or cooling." Gal. Gpde pfReg. Title 8, .§ 

3395(d)(1). Furtherrriore, "[tjhe ariiourit of shade present shall be at least enbugh to 

accommodate the number of employees on recovery or rest periods, so that they can sit in 

a normal posture fully in the shade without having to be in physical cpritact with each 

other." M. 

116. "Employees shall be allowed and encouraged to take a preventative coOl-down;rest in the 

shade when they feel need tp do so tp prptect themselves frpm overheating." Gal. Cpde oi 

Reg. Title 8, ;§ 3395(d)(3). "Such access tP shade shall t)e permitted at all tiriies.'* Id. 

117. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.;;,and/oi 

DOES failed to peiTriit ;access; tp shade; and preventative cpol dpwn rest and/pr :recpvery 

peribds to Plaintiffs arid the Class, rirtembers vyheri the temperature reached eighty (80] 

degrees Fahrenheit. Specifically, Plaintiffs and. the Glass members work in Sacramento 

during the summer and autumn inpnthsi whesn temperatures frequently exceed, eighty (80) 

degrees Fahrenheit, However, Defendarits UNITED NATURAL FOODSVINC:; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; arid/or DOES do not allow and encourage Plairitiffs 

and. the Glass: members to take preventative cool̂ pwn rest recovery- periods in shaded 

m-eas vvheri the. applicable terriperatures are reached. Thus, Defendants UNITED 

NATURAL FO(DDS, INC.; UNITED NATUIUL FOODS WEST, ING:; and/br DOES 

failed to pennit, allpvv; or; encourage Plairitiffs arid ;the Glass niembers tp take preventative 

cOPl dowxx recpyery peripds iri the shade to protect .against pyerheating vvhen the 

terriperafure exceeds eiigiity (80) degi'ees Fahre 

118. Defendants UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

ING:; and/or E)GES failed tp utilize ariy altemative procedures for providing access to 

shade or equivalent protection to Plaintiffs and tlie Glasis riienibers. Deferidarits UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.- UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, ING.; and/or DOES 

failed to iriiplenierit other cboling riieasures in lieu of shade atleas as effective as:shade in 

allowing employees to eopl. 
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119. Therefore, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.: UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC.; arid/or DOES failed to prbVide preventative cbbl down rest and/br recoveiy peribds 

to Plairitiffs and the Class rnembers iri accordance with Galifpmia Code of Regulations 

Titie 8, section 3395. 

120. As a result of the urilawful acts of UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST̂  INC.; and/or DOES, Plaintiffs and the Glass they seek to 

represent have been deprived of preriiium vvages, in anipunts to be determined at trial, anc 

are erititled to recbvery of such ariioiirits, plus iriterest and penalties theieOn, attomeys' fees 

and ;cps;ts, pursuant tO; Labor Gbde sectipn 226.7. 

121. WHEIIEFORE, Plairitiffs; and the Class they seek tp represerit request relief as described 

below. 

SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST UNITED NATURAL FOODS. INC.; 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST. INC.; AND/OR DOES; Knowing and 
IntentioriarFaiiure to Gorifiply with Iteinized Einployee Wage StatemeDt Provisions 
(Lab. Code SS 226. 1174. 1175; IWG Wage Order No. 7; Cal. Code Rees.. Title 8. S 
11040V 

122. Plairitiffs and those siridilarly situated Glass members hereby iricbrporate by refererice each 

and every other paragraph in this Complaint herein as if fully plead. 

123. Labor Code sectipn 226 subdivision (a) requires Defendants and/or DOES to, inter alia, 

iteriiize in vvage stateiments .arid accurately report tlie total hours worlced arid total wages 

earned. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INCv; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, ING 

aiidJoi DOES have knpvvingly arid iriteritibhally failed tp conipily with Labor Gode sesction 

226, isiibdivision (a)̂  on each: and every wage stateriierit prQvide;d to Plaintiffs 

CHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD COOKSEY arid members of the 

proposed Class. 

124. Labor Code sectiori 1174 requires UNITEE) NATURAL FOODS, INC.;; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/pr DOES tp maintain and.preserve, in a centralizec 

location, records showing the daily hours; worked by arid the Nvages paid to its: employees 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; U N I T E D N A T U R A L ' F O O D S >X ŜT, lN(!:.; an̂ ^̂ ^ 
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DOES have knowingly and intentiOrially failed tO comply with Labor Code,sectiori 1174. 

The failure of UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.:;;UN1TED NATURAL FOODS WEST, 

INC;; arid/or DOES, and each of them; to cprnply vvith Labor Code section 1174 is unlavvfu] 

pursuant to Labor Cbde section 1175. 

125. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC:; and/bi 

D O E S failed to mairitain accurate tinie recprds - aS; required by I>yC Wage Order No. 7-

200i(7), arid Cal. Code Regs., Title 8 section 11090 - shovvirig, arribng Other thirigs, wheri 

the employee begins and ends each work period, the total daily hours worked-in itemized 

wage statements, total wages, bpnuses;and/pr inceritives earned, and all deductibns made; 

126. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES have knowingly and intentionally failed to provide Plaintiffs arid the Class noieriibers 

with accurate itericiized wage stafementis which shpvv; "(1); gross wages earned, (2) total 

hours vvorked by the einployee,. . . (4);:all deductions, provided that all deductions niade 

on vvritten orders of the eriiployee rriay be aggregated and showri as orie iterii, (5) riet wages 

earned, (6) the iriclusiye dates pfthe period for,vvhich theemplpyee is paid, (7) the name 

pf the employee arid only the last four digits of : his or her social security riuniber or an 

eritiplbyee identification number other than a social security nuniber, (8) the riarrie and 

address of the legal, entity that is the employer and, if the emplpyer is a farm laboi 

cOrifractor, as definedlrisiibdivisiori(b) of Sectiori 1682, the nainearid addresis of the leiga 

entify that secured tiie services, bf the erhplbyer; and (9) all ajppiicabie hoiirly rates; in effeci 

during the;pay period; and the :con-esppnding number of hpurs wprke at each; hpurly rate 

by tiieemployefep" Labor Gbde:settiori:226(a). 

127. As a direct result of UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL;FOOIDS 

>yEST, ING;; and/pr DOES; unlawful acts. Plaintiffs and the Class: they intend to represent 

have been damaged arid are erititled to recovery of suth aniounts; plus interest thereon, 

attonieys' fees, and costs, pursuant to Labor Code section 226. 

128. WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and the Class they seek to represent request relief as described 
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below. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST UNITED NATURAL FOODS. INC. 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST. INC.; AND/OR DOES; Failui-e to Pay AH 
Wages Due at the time of Termination from Eniployment (Lab. Code SS 201-203) 

129. Plairitiffs and those similarly situated Class members hereby incorporate by referencie; each 

and eyery otheriparagraph in this Cpmplamt herein̂ ^ 

130: Plaintiffs GHRISTOPHER B I L L I N G T O N AND RONALD GOOKSEy terniinated dieii 

employment with UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC:; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC.; and/or DOES. 

131. Whetiier Plaintiffs GHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD COOKSEY 

voluntarily or involuntarily tenninated tliefr employment with UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES, Defendants 

and/or DOES did not timely pay them straight time wages owed at the time of theii 

termiriation. 

132. Whetiier Plaintiffs GHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD GOOKSEY 

voluntarily or involuntarily termiriated their employment with UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS, ING.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES, Defendants 

and/or DOES did not timely pay them overtime wages owed at the time of their termination. 

133. Whether Plaintiffs GHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD GOOKSEY 

voluritarily or involuntarily terminated their employment with UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES, Defendants 

and/or DOES did not timely pay them meal and/or rest period premiums owed at the time 

of their tenriiriation. 

134. Numerous members of the Glass are no Ipnger ernployed by UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES. They were 

either fired or quit UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.'S; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC.'S; and/or DOES' employ. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC;; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/pr DOES did not pay all timely wages owed at the 

CLASS AGTION COMPLAINT 30 . Exhibit B, Page 84

Case 5:18-cv-02382-VAP-SHK   Document 1-2   Filed 11/08/18   Page 31 of 36   Page ID #:87



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

:25 

26 

27 

28 

time of their temiiriatipn. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES did not pay all. premium wages owed at the tiriie; bi 

their termination. 

135; Labor Code sectipn 203 provides that, if ari eniployer vvillfully fails to pay, withoul 

abatemerit or reductiori, in accordarice with Labor Cbde sections 2b 1,201:5,202 arid 205.5, 

any wagesof an employee who is discharged or who quits, the wages bfthe eriiployee sliall 

continue at the same rate, for up tp thirty (30) days fi:om the due date therepfi unti] paid oi 

until an actiori therefore is conniriericed. 

136. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES failed to; pay Plaintiffs CHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND RONALD 

COOKSEY a surii certain at the turie of their termiriation or within seyenty:-twb (72) hoiirs 

of their resignation̂  and have failed to pay those; sums for thirty (30) days tliereafter. 

Pursuant to the provisions of Labor Code section 203, Plaintiffs CHRISTOPHER 

BILLINGTON AND RONALD GOOKSEY is entitkd to a pendty in tiie amourit of tiieii 

daily wage, riiultiplied by thirty (30) days. 

137. When Plaintiffsi and those menibers of the Glassi whp are fprmer employees of UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.: and/or DOES 

separated frbrii Defendants' and/Or DOES' eriiploy, Deferidants arid/or DOES vvillfully 

failed to pay alLstraight tim.e vvages, overtinie wagess, imeaOl periocl premivimSi â  rest 

peripd preiniunis pvved at the tinie pf tenriiriatipri, 

138. UNITED NATURALFOODS, INC.; UNITED:NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/bi 

DOES failure: to pay said wages to Plaintiffs CHIUST0PHER BILLINGTON AND 

RONALD COOKSEY ̂ d riieriibers bf the Glass they seek to represent, was vvillful in tiial 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES and eiach of them knew the wages to be due, but; failed tp pay them. 

139. As a cbrisequence of UNITED NATURAL FOODS, ING.'S| UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, ING.'S; and/or DOES' willful conduct in not paying wages owed at the 
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time bf separation fiom emplbymerit. Plaintiffs GHRISTOPHER BILLINGTON AND 

RONALD GOOKSEY and members of the proposed Class are entitled tothirty (30) days' 

Avprth of wages as a penalty under Labor Gode section 203, together \yith interest thereon 

and attomeys' fees andxosts. 

140: WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and the iClass; they seek to represent request relief .as described 

beloyv. 

EIGHTH CAUSE OF ACTION AGAINST UNITED NATURAL FOODS. INC. 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST^ INC.; AND/OR DOES; Viplation of Unfait 
Competition Law (California BuSi & Prof. Code. $17206. et seg.V 

141. Plaintiffs arid those siriiila-ly situated :Class meriibers hereby incorporatâ ^̂  

and every other paragraph ;iri this Complaint herein as if fully plead. 

142. UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/oi 

DOES failure: tb; pay all straight tiirie arid overtime wages eanied, failure to provide 

compliant meal and/or rest breaks and/or compensation in lieu thereof, failure to itemize 

and keep accurate records;; failure to pay all wagesidue at tiine of tenninatiOri, as .alleged 

herein, constitutes iirilawful activity prbhibited by Galifbrriia Busiriess and Professions 

Code section 17200, et seq. 

143. The actions of UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC. ; and/or DOES in failing to pay Plaintiffs arid meinbers of the proposed Glass 

in a lawfiil marmer, as alleged herein, constitutes false, unfair, fraudulent and deceptive 

business practices, witiiin the meaning of California Business and Professions Code section 

17200, et seq. 

144. Plaintiffs is entitled to an injunction and other equitable relief against such unlawful 

practices in order to prevent future damage;, for which there is no adequate remedy at law, 

and to avoid, a multiplicity of lavvsuits. Plaintiffs bririgs this cause individually and as 

niembers of the general public actually harmed and as a representative of all others subject 

to UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, ING 

and/or DOES unlawful acts and practices. 
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145. As a result Of tiieir urilawful acts, UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES have reaped arid continue to reap unfaii 

benefits at the expense pf Plaintiffs and the proposed Class tiiey seek to represerit . UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INGv; and/or DOES 

should be erijoiried frbrii this activity and riiade to disgorge tiie:seill-gotten;gairis and restore 

Plaintiffs and the members of the proposed Glass pursuant to Buisiness arid Professions 

Code section 17203. Plaintiffs is informed and belieyeSi ;and; theirepn alleges, that 

Deferidarits arid/br iDOES are unjiistly enricheid tiirough their policy of ribt all waiges owed 

to:Plaintiffs and members of the proposed Class. 

146, Plaintiffs is infomied and believes,:and therepn sdleges, that Plmntiffs;and menribers.of tĥ  

proposed class are prejudibed UMTED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS WEST, INC.- and/or DOES unfair trade practices. 

147- As a direct and pro>dmate result pfthe unfair business practices of UNITED NATURAL 

FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/or DOES, and each ol 

them, plairitiffs, iridividiially arid dri behalf of all eiriipioyeesi sfrriilarly situated, are erititled 

to equitable: and injunctive relief, including fiiU restitutipn and/or disgorgement of all 

wages and premium pay which have been urilawfiilly vvithheld frona Plaintiffs arid 

members of the proposed Glass as a result of the busiriess acts arid practices described 

herein and enjoining UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS 

WEST, INC.; arid/or DOES from erigagirig iri the practices described herein, 

148. The illegal cbndiict alleged hereiri is coritiriuirig, arid;tiiere is rib iridicatibri tliat UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; and/pr DOES 

will cease and desist from such activity in the future. Plaintiffs alleges that if UNITED 

NATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.; arid/or DOES are 

npt enjpined frpm the conduct set forth in this Complaint, they will continue the unlawful 

activity discussed herein. 

149. Plaintiffs ftirther requests that the Court issue a preliminary and permanent injunction 
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prohibiting UNITED IVIATURAL FOODS, INC.; UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST 

INC.; arid/br DOES frbm coritiriuirig to riot pay Plaintiffs and the members of the proposed 

Glass'overtime wages asidiscussed herein. 

150; WHEREFORE^ Plaintiffs and the Glass they seek to represent; request relief as described 

belbw. 

V. PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREF0RE,.Plaintiffs prays for judgmerit as fpllovys: 

A. , That;;tiie (Hourf determirie that this actibri rriay be;rriaintairied as afciass actiori; 

B. For compensatory damageŝ  in an airiOunt accsbrdiiig to proof at trial,, witli infefesi 

thereon; 

C. For ecoribmic Md/or special damages in ari ariibunt accbrdirig to proof with iriteiesi 

thereon;: 

D. For unpaid straight time and overtime vvages, in an amount accordmg to proof at trial 

with iriterest; thereOri; 

E. For cbrriperisatibn fOr all tiine wbi-ked; 

F. For; compensation for not being prpvided paid Test breaks; 

G. Fpr;conipensation for, ript beirig provided paid meal periods; 

H. fo r cbriiperisatibn for riot beirig prbvided ;paid preveritative coOWowri recoveiy' 

peiriods; 

I . iFpr dariiages:and/or nionies Owed:for failure to cpmply with iternized; eriiployee \yage 

sfateriieirit prbvisiions; 

J. For all vyaitirig tiriie penalties owed; 

K,: That Defendants ije found to have erigaged iri u^ 

17200 et seq. of the Galifornia Busiriess. arid Prbfessibris Code;;' 

L, ThatPeferidants be ordered and enjoined to make restitutipri tp the Glass due tP theh 

unfair: competition, includirig disgorgement Of their vvrongfully Ayithheid >yages 

pursuant to Califomia Business and Professions Code sectibns 17203 and: 17204; 
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M. That an brder of specific perfbrmance of all penalties ovveid be issued under Business 

and Professions Code sections 17202; 

N. That Defendants be enjpinesd frpm continuing the illegal course of conduct, alleged 

herein; 

O; That Defendants fiirther bê  erijbined to cease arid desist frorn urifair competitiori in 

violatibn of,section,17200 et:seq. pf the Califomia Business and Professions Code; 

I*. That Defendarits be; erijoiried frpni ifurther acts of resri-aint of. trade pr linfaii 

competitiori; 

Q. For attorrieys'fees; 

R. For iriterest accnied tO;date; 

S. For costs of siiit arid exjpesrises iriciuted hereiri;;;arid 

T- For £iny such other and fiirther relief as the Court deems just arid proper, 

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Plairitiff demarids a jury trial. 

Dated: June 19,2018 THE TURLEY & MARA LAW FIRM, APLC 

WilHam TurleyiEsq, 
David Marâ  Esq. 
Representing Plaintiffs CHRISTOPHER 
BILLINGTON AND RONALD COOKSEY 
;bn beiialf of theniselve?, all others; similarly ŝ̂  
and on behalf of the general public; 
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WORKMAN LAW FIRM, PC 
Robin G. Workman (Bar #145810) 
robin@workmanlawpc.com 
Rachel E. Davey (Bar #316096) 
rachel@workmanlawpc.com 
177 Post Street, Suite 800 
San Francisco, CA 94108 
Telephone: (415) 782-3660 
Facsimile: (415) 788-1028 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Richard Cortez on behalf of 
himself, and all others similarly situated 

SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA 

COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA 

RICHARD B. CORTEZ on behalf of himself, 
and all others similarly situated, 

Plaintiffs, 

vs. 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC. 
and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive, 

Defendants. 

No. 

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT 

Unlimited Civil Case 
The Amount Demanded Exceeds $25,000 

Plaintiff Richard B. Cortez ("Plaintiff'), hereby alleges as follows: 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

1. This class action lawsuit arises from ongoing wrongful conduct by Defendants, 

United Natural Foods, Inc. and United Natural Foods West, Inc. ("UNFI" or "Defendants") for 

its unlawful failure to (1) compensate Plaintiff and similarly situated delivery drivers for the 

cost of and use of their personal cell phones for work as required by California Labor Code 

section 2802; (2) provide Plaintiff and similarly situated delivery drivers with rest and meal 

breaks, and compensation for missed rest and meal breaks, in violation of California Labor 

Code sections 512 and 226.7, and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Orders; (3) timely 

COMPLAINT -1- 3277\PLEADINGS\COMPLAINT.DOC 
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WORKMAN LAW FIRM, PC
Robin G. Workman (Bar #145810)
robin@workmanlawpc com
Rachgng Davey SBar #316096)
rachel@workman awpc.com
177 Post Street, Suite 800
San Francisco CA 94108
Telephone: (415) 782-3660
Facsimile: (415) 788-1028

Atlorneysfor Plaintifl Richard Cortez 0n behalfof
himself and all others similarly situated

SUPERIOR COURT 0F CALIFORNIA

COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA

RICHARD B. CORTEZ 0n behalf ofhimself, No.
and all others similarly situated,

CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
Plaintiffs,

Unlimited Civil Case
vs. The Amount Demanded Exceeds $25,000

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC.,
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC.
and DOES 1 through 50, inclusive,

Defendants.

Plaintiff Richard B. Cortez (“Plaintiff”), hereby alleges as follows:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS

1. This class action lawsuit aflses from ongoing wrongful conduct by Defendants,

United Natural Foods, Inc. and United Natural Foods West, Inc. (“UNFI” 0r “Defendants”) for

its unlawful failure t0 (1) compensate Plaintiff and similarly situated delivery drivers for the

cost 0f and use 0ftheir personal cell phones for work as required by California Labor Code

section 2802; (2) provide Plaintiff and similarly situated delivery drivers with rest and meal

breaks, and compensation for missed rest and meal breaks, in Violation 0f California Labor

Code sections 512 and 226.7, and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Orders; (3) timely
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pay Plaintiff, and similarly situated delivery drivers, for all hours worked and overtime 

'compensation owed in violation of California Labor Code sections 201-204b, 510 and 1194; (4) 

properly calculate the regular rate of pay for Plaintiff and other similarly situated delivery 

drivers, and therefore pay all regular and overtime wages owed, by failing to include all 

remuneration in the regular rate of pay calculation, and therefore pay all wages when due in 

violation of California Labor Code sections 201-204b, 510 and 1194; and, (5) provide accurate 

wage statements as required by Labor Code section 226(a)(1)(2) and (5), for Plaintiff and other 

similarly situated delivery drivers, in that UNFI did not list all wages owed or hours worked, 

does not pay the additional hour of compensation for missed rest or meal periods, and does not 

properly calculate the regular rate of pay for purposes of calculating overtime compensation. In 

addition, for all its employees, UNFI does not list either the last four digits of the social security 

number or an employee identification number on Plaintiff's and other employees' wage 

statements in violation of Labor Code section 226(a)(7). 

2. Plaintiff Richard B. Cortez, a resident of the State of California, brings this 

action pursuant to California Labor Code Sections 201-204b, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 558, 1174, 

1194, 2802 and California Business and Professions Code section 17200 et. seq.; and applicable 

Industrial Welfare and Commission Wage Orders made pursuant to California Labor Code 

sections 2699, 2699.3 and 2699.5. 

3. UNFI is in the business of the distribution of natural foods. UNFI engages in 

this business throughout California. 

4. Plaintiff is ignorant of the true names and capacities of Doe Defendants 1-50, 

inclusive. Plaintiff sues these Defendants by such fictitious names pursuant to California Code 

of Civil Procedure §474. Plaintiff will seek leave of Court to amend this Complaint to identify 

these Defendants when their identities are ascertained. Plaintiff is informed and believe, and on 

that basis alleges, that each of the fictitiously named Defendants was in some manner liable and 

legally responsible for the damages and injuries set forth herein. 

5. Plaintiff was employed by Defendants for over a year from June 2016 to August 

2017. Plaintiff worked as a delivery driver for Defendants in Gilroy, California. This action 
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pay Plaintiff, and similarly situated delivery drivers, for all hours worked and overtime

compensation owed in Violation of California Labor Code sections 201 -204b, 510 and 1194; (4)

properly calculate the regular rate ofpay for Plaintiff and other similarly situated delivery

drivers, and therefore pay all regular and overtime wages owed, by failing to include all

remuneration in the regular rate of pay calculation, and therefore pay all wages when due in

Violation 0f California Labor Code sections 201-204b, 510 and 1194; and, (5) provide accurate

wage statements as required by Labor Code section 226(a)(1)(2) and (5), for Plaintiff and other

similarly situated delivery drivers, in that UNFI did not list all wages owed 0r hours worked,

does not pay the additional hour of compensation for missed rest 0r meal periods, and does not

properly calculate the regular rate of pay for purposes of calculating overtime compensation. In

addition, for all its employees, UNFI does not list either the last four digits 0fthe social security

number 0r an employee identification number on Plaintiff s and other employees’ wage

statements in violation of Labor Code section 226(a)(7).

2. Plaintiff Richard B. Cortez, a resident 0f the State 0f California, brings this

action pursuant t0 California Labor Code Sections 201-204b, 226, 226.7, 5 10, 512, 558, 1174,

1194, 2802 and Califdrnia Business and Professions Code section 17200 et. seq.; and applicable

Industrial Welfare and Commission Wage Orders made pursuant t0 California Labor Code

sections 2699, 2699.3 and 2699.5.

3. UNFI is in the business of the distribution of natural foods. UNFI engages in

this business throughout California.

4. Plaintiff is ignorant 0f the true names and capacities 0f Doe Defendants 1-50,

inclusive. Plaintiff sues these Defendants by such fictitious names pursuant to California Code

of Civil Procedure §474. Plaintifi'will seek leave of Court t0 amend this Complaint to identify

these Defendants when their identities arc ascenained. Plaintiff is informed and believe, and on

that basis alleges, that each of the fictitiously named Defendants was in some manner liable and

legally responsible for the damages and injuries set forth herein.

5. Plaintiff was employed by Defendants for over a year from June 2016 to August

2017. Plaintiff worked as a delivery driver for Defendants in Gilroy, California. This action
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seeks relief on behalf of two subclasses of persons in the employ of Defendants in California 

within four years preceding the filing of the action to the present comprised of the following 

employees: 

a. Subclass A: Those persons employed by Defendants as delivery drivers; 

and, 

b. Subclass B: Those persons employed by Defendants to whom Defendants 

issued wage statements. 

6. Given Plaintiff was employed by Defendants within four years of filing this 

complaint and was subject to the actions/inaction of Defendants of which he complains, 

Plaintiff is an adequate and proper class representative. Plaintiff brings this action in his 

individual capacity, on behalf of all others similarly situated, as an aggrieved employee, and 

pursuant to California Business & Professions Code section 17204, on behalf of the general 

public. 

7. As a driver for UNFI, Plaintiff and other similarly situated delivery drivers, were 

required to use their personal cell phones to make and receive work-related calls both from 

other UNFI employees and from customers of UNFI. Until approximately July 2017, UNFI did 

not reimburse Plaintiff, or similarly situated delivery drivers, any amount for the costs 

associated with the use of their personal cell phone and internet usage. In approximately July 

2017, UNFI changed its policy and began providing a $20/month lump sum reimbursement to 

Plaintiff and other delivery drivers for their personal cell phone usage. UNFI took no measures 

to determine whether this reimbursement was sufficient. Given the requirements placed on 

Plaintiff, and the other delivery drivers, the small reimbursement provided still was not 

sufficient to reimburse Plaintiff and the other delivery drivers for the costs incurred to use their 

personal cell phones for work. 

8. UNFI routinely required Plaintiff, and similarly situated drivers, to work shifts 

longer than 5 hours without providing them rest breaks or meal breaks. Throughout Plaintiff's 

employment at UNFI, UNFI took no action to provide Plaintiff and similarly situated drivers 

with rest breaks or make rest breaks available; rather, UNFI stated that there was no time for 
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seeks relief 0n behalf of two subclasses 0f persons in the employ of Defendants in California

within four years preceding thc filing 0f the action to the present comprised of the following

employees:

a. Subclass A: Those persons employed by Defendants as delivery drivers;

and,

b. Subclass B: Those persons employed by Defendants to whom Defendants

issued wage statements.

6. Given Plaintiff was employed by Defendants within four years of filing this

complaint and was subject t0 the actions/inaction of Defendants 0f which he complains,

Plaintiff is an adequate and proper class representative. Plaintiff brings this action in his

individual capacity, on behalf of all others similarly situated, as an aggrieved employee, and

pursuant t0 California Business & Professions Code section 17204, on behalf of the general

public.

7. As a driver for UNFI, Plaintiffand other similarly situated delivery drivers, were

required t0 use their personal cell phones t0 make and receive work-related calls both from

other UNFI employees and from customers of UNFI. Until approximately July 2017, UNFI did

not reimburse Plaintiff, or similarly situated delivery drivers, any amount for the costs

associated with the use of their personal cell phone and internet usage. In approximately July

2017, UNFI changed its policy and began providing a $20/month lump sum reimbursement to

Plaintiff and other delivery drivers for their personal cell phone usage. UNFI took n0 measures

to determine whether this reimbursement was suffi cient. Given the requirements placed 0n

Plaintiff, and the other delivery drivers, the small reimbursement provided still was not

sufficient to reimburse Plaintiff and the other delivery drivers for the costs incurred t0 use their

personal cell phones for work.

8. UNFl routinely required Plaintiff, and similarly situated drivers, to work shifts

longer than 5 hours without providing them rest breaks 0r meal breaks. Throughout Plaintiff‘s

employment at UNFI, UNFI took no action to provide Plaintiff and similarly situated drivers

with rest breaks or make rest breaks available; rather, UNFI stated that there was no time for
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such break. UNFI also knew or should have known that its drivers worked through meal and 

rest periods, because the delivery locations and schedules informed UNFI of their various 

timing requirements on unloading goods. As a consequence, Plaintiff and similarly situated 

drivers would routinely work greater than six hours without a meal or rest break. During 

Plaintiff's employment, UNFI did not ask Plaintiff, or similarly situated employees, to sign 

meal period waivers. 

9. UNFI also did not pay an additional hour of compensation if Mr. Cortez and 

those similarly situated delivery drivers were not provided with an actual meal or rest break. 

Further, as UNFI did not keep accurate records reflecting employees' actual meal breaks, and 

did not pay for the additional hour of compensation when drivers did not receive required rest 

and meal breaks, UNFI failed to provide accurate wage statements, in that it did not list all 

compensation on the wage statements and failed to pay all compensation owed as required by 

Labor Code sections 201, 202, 203, 204, and 204b. 

10. During the last part of Plaintiff's employment, UNFI paid Plaintiff, and similarly 

situated delivery drivers for all hours worked, and overtime compensation due, and reflected 

such on the wage statements. During the initial part of Plaintiff's employment, however, UNFI 

did not do so. During the initial part of Plaintiff's employment, UNFI did not pay Plaintiff, and 

similarly situated delivery drivers, for all hours worked, or overtime compensation owed. As a 

result, Plaintiff, and similarly situated delivery drivers did not receive compensation for all 

hours worked and overtime compensation owed, as they routinely worked more than 8 hours a 

day and 40 hours a week and received no additional compensation. At all time periods, UNFI 

did not include all remuneration when calculating the regular rate of pay. Plaintiff, and other 

similarly situated drivers, routinely received driver bonuses. UNFI did not include this amount 

in the regular rate of pay, thereby paying inaccurate overtime rates to the delivery drivers. 

Because of Defendant's failure to pay for all hours worked, and overtime compensation owed, 

and failure to pay the correct overtime rate, UNFI failed to provide Plaintiff and those similarly 

situated employees with accurate wage statements in violation of Labor Code section 226. For 

the delivery drivers, the wage statements violated Labor Code sections 226(a)(1)(2) and (5). 
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such break. UNFI also knew or should have known that its drivers worked through meal and

rest periods, because the delivery locations and schedules informed UNFI 0ftheir various

timing requirements 0n unloading goods. As a consequence, Plaintiff and similarly situated

drivers would routinely work greater than six hours without a meal or rest break. During

Plaintiff s employment, UNFI did not ask Plaintiff, or similarly situated employees, t0 sign

meal period waivers.

9. UNFI also did not pay an additional hour 0f compensation if Mr. Cortez and

those similarly situated delivery drivers were not provided with an actual meal 0r rest break.

Further, as UNFI did not keep accurate records reflecting employees’ actual meal breaks, and

did not pay for the additional hour 0f compensation when drivers did not receive required rest

and meal breaks, UNFI failed t0 provide accurate wage statements, in that it did not list all

compensation on the wage statements and failed to pay all compensation owed as required by

Labor Code sections 201, 202, 203, 204, and 204b.

10. During the last pan 0f Plaintiffs employment, UNFI paid Plaintiff, and similarly

situated delivery drivers for all hours worked, and overtime compensation due, and reflected

such 0n the wage statements. During the initial part 0f Plaintiff’s employment, however, UNFI

did not do so. During the initial part of Plaintiffs employment, UNFI did not pay Plaintiff, and

similarly situated delivery drivers, for all hours worked, 0r overtime compensation owed. As a

result, Plaintiff, and similarly situated delivery drivers did not receive compensation for all

hours worked and overtime compensation owed, as they routinely worked more than 8 hours a

day and 40 hours a week and received n0 additional compensation. At all time periods, UNFI

did not include all remuneration when calculating the regular rate of pay. Plaintiff, and other

similarly situated drivers, routinely received driver bonuses. UNFI did not include this amount

in the regular rate ofpay, thereby paying inaccurate overtime rates to the delivery drivers.

Because 0f Defendant’s failure to pay for all hours worked, and overtime compensation owed,

and failure to pay the correct overtime rate, UNFI failed t0 provide Plaintiff and those similarly

situated employees With accurate wage statements in violation 0f Labor Code section 226. For

the delivery drivers, the wage statements violated Labor Code sections 226(a)(1)(2) and (5).
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With respect to all employees, UNFI did not list either the last four digits of the employees' 

social security number or an employee identification number on the wage statements in 

violation of Labor Code section 226(a)(7). 

11. Plaintiff is informed and believes that the damages, back-wages, restitution, 

penalties, interest and attorneys' fees do not exceed an aggregate of $4,999,999.99 and that 

Plaintiffs individual claims do not exceed $74,999.99. 

12. The proposed class is sufficiently numerous and the proposed class members are 

geographically dispersed throughout California, the joinder of whom in one action is 

impracticable, such that the disposition of those claims in a class action will provide substantial 

benefits to both the parties and the Court. 

13. There is a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and fact 

involved affecting the parties to be represented. The questions of law and fact common to 

Subclass A, the delivery drivers, predominate over questions that may affect individual class 

members. These questions include, but are not limited to, the following: 

(a) Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a practice whereby it unlawfully 

failed to reimburse Plaintiff and other delivery drivers for work-related expenses 

as required by law; 

(b) Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a systematic practice whereby it 

unlawfully failed to provide meal periods to Plaintiff and other delivery drivers as 

required by law and failed to pay Plaintiff and other delivery drivers compensation 

for the lack of meal periods; 

(c) Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a systematic practice whereby it 

unlawfully failed to provide rest periods to Plaintiff other delivery drivers as 

required by law and failed to pay class members compensation to Plaintiff and 

other delivery drivers for the lack of rest periods; 

(d) Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a practice whereby it failed to pay 

Plaintiff, and other delivery drivers, for all hours worked and overtime pay due; 
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With respect t0 all employees, UNFI did not list either the last four digits 0f the employees”

social security number or an employee identification number 0n the wage statements in

violation of Labor Code section 226(a)(7).

11.

penalties, interest and attorneys’ fees d0 not exceed an aggregate 0f $4,999,999.99 and that

Plaintiffs individual claims d0 not exceed $74,999.99.

12.

geographically dispersed throughout California, the joinder ofwhom in one action is

impracticable, such that the disposition 0f those claims in a class action will provide substantial

benefits t0 both the parties and the Court.

13.

involved affecting the parties t0 be represented. The questions 0f law and fact common t0

Subclass A, the delivery drivers, predominate over questions that may affect individual class

members. These questions include, but are not limited to, the following:

(a)

(b)

(d)

COMPLAINT

Plaintiff is informed and believes that the damages, back-wages, restitution,

The proposed class is sufficiently numerous and the proposed class members are

There is a well-defined community of interest in the questions of law and fact

Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a practice whereby it unlawfully

failed to reimburse Plaintiff and other delivery drivers for work-related expenses

as required by law;

Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a systematic practice whereby it

unlawfully failed t0 provide meal periods t0 Plaintiff and other delivery drivers as

required by law and failed to pay Plaintiff and other delivery drivers compensation

for the lack 0f meal periods;

Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a systematic practice whereby it

unlawfully failed to provide rest periods to Plaintiff other delivery drivers as

required by law and failed t0 pay class members compensation t0 Plaintiff and

other delivery drivers for the lack ofrest periods;

Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a practice whereby it failed to pay

Plaintiff, and other delivery drivers, for all hours worked and overtime pay due;
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(e) Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a practice whereby it failed to includ 

all remuneration in the calculation of the regular rate of pay, thereby failing to pay 

Plaintiff and other delivery drivers all earned regular and overtime pay; 

Whether the acts and practices of UNFI as alleged herein violated, inter alia, 

applicable provisions of the California Labor Code, including but not limited to 

sections 201, 202, 203, 204, 204b, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 558, 1174, 1194, 2802, 

and 2698, et seq., and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Orders, and 

California Business & Professions Code section 17200, et seq. 

The questions of law and fact common to Subclass B predominate over questions that 

may affect individual class members. These questions include, but are not limited to, the 

following: 

(a) Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a practice whereby it failed to 

provide accurate and compliant wage statements to Plaintiff and other 

employees, in that UNFI failed to show the last four digits of employees' social 

security numbers, or an employee identification number, on wage statement; 

(b) Whether the acts and practices of UNFI as alleged herein violated, inter alia, 

applicable provisions of the California Labor Code, including but not limited to 

sections 226 and 2698, et seq., and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission 

Orders, and California Business & Professions Code section 17200, et seq. 

14. Because Defendant required Plaintiff to incur work-related expenses without 

reimbursement, failed to provide Plaintiff with rest or meal periods, or compensation for missed 

meal or rest periods, failed to pay Plaintiff for all hours worked and overtime compensation 

owed, failed to include all remuneration in the regular rate of pay calculation for Plaintiff, and 

failed to provide Plaintiff with accurate wage statements as required by the California Labor 

Code, Plaintiff asserts claims in accord with the claims of both Subclasses. 

15. Plaintiff will fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the 

proposed class members in that he has no disabling conflict of interest that would be 

antagonistic to those of the other members of the proposed Subclasses. Plaintiff retained 
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(e) Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a practice whereby it failed to include

all remuneration in the calculation ofthe regular rate of pay, thereby failing t0 pay

Plaintiff and other delivery drivers all earned regular and overtime pay;

(f) Whether the acts and practices of UNFI as alleged herein violated, infl w,
applicable provisions of the California Labor Code, including but not limited to

sections 201, 202, 203, 204, 204b, 2'26, 226.7, 510, 512, 558, 1174, 1194, 2802,

and 2698, et seq., and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Orders, and

California Business & Professions Code section 17200, g;fl
The questions of law and fact common t0 Subclass B predominate over questions that

may affect individual class members. These questions include, but are not limited t0, the

following:

(a) Whether UNFI implemented and engaged in a practice whereby it failed t0

provide accurate and compliant wage statements t0 Plaintiff and other

employees, in that UNFI failed t0 show the last four digits 0f employees’ social

security numbers, or an employee identification number, 0n wage statement;

(b) Whether the acts and practices of UNFI as alleged herein violated, infl Lia,

applicable provisions 0f thc California Labor Code, including but not limited to

sections 226 and 2698, et seq., and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission

Orders, and California Business & Professions Code section 17200, e_t m;
14. Because Defendant required Plaintiff t0 incur work-related expenses without

reimbursement, failed to provide Plaintiff with rest or meal periods, 0r compensation for missed

meal 0r rest periods, failed t0 pay Plaintiff for all hours worked and overtime compensation

owed, failed lo include all remuneration in the regular rate 0f pay calculation for Plaintiff, and

failed to provide Plaintiff with accurate wage statements as required by the California Labor

Code, Plaintiff asserts claims in accord with the claims of both Subclasses.

15. Plaintiffwill fairly and adequately represent and protect the interests of the

proposed class mcmbers in that he has n0 disabling conflict 0f interest that would be

antagonistic t0 those 0f the other members of the proposed Subclasses. Plaintiff retained
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counsel who are competent and experienced in the prosecution of class action wage and hour 

violations. 

16. Because Plaintiff and the members of the proposed Subclasses all similarly 

suffered irreparable harm and damages as a result of UNFI's unlawful and wrongful conduct, 

class treatment is especially appropriate and this action will provide substantial benefits to both. 

Absent this action, UNFI's unlawful conduct will continue unremedied and uncorrected. 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Violation of California Labor Code § 2802) 

(Subclass A) 

17. Plaintiff, and members of the proposed Subclasses, reallege and incorporate by 

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

18. California Labor Code section 2802 provides that an employer "shall indemnify 

his or her employee for all necessary expenditures or losses incurred by the employee in direct 

consequence of the discharge of his or her duties, . . ." 

19. Plaintiff, and other delivery drivers, used their personal cell phones to make and 

receive work-related calls. UNFI either did not reimburse Plaintiff, and other delivery drivers, 

for any of the costs of using their personal cell phones for work or provide inadequate 

reimbursement. 

20. Plaintiff, and other delivery drivers, have suffered damages as a direct 

consequence of UNFI's failure to comply with Labor Code section 2802 and they seek 

reimbursement for the expenditures they incurred in direct consequence of the discharge of their 

duties in an amount according to proof at time of trial with interest thereon, costs, applicable 

civil penalties and attorney's fees as set forth below. 

21. Plaintiff and proposed members of Subclass A are therefore entitled to the relief 

requested below. 
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counsel who are competent and experienced in the prosecution 0f class action wage and hour

violations.

16. Because Plaintiff and the members 0f the proposed Subclasses all similarly

suffered irreparable harm and damages as a result 0f UNFI’S unlawful and wrongful conduct,

class treatment is especially appropriate and this action will provide substantial benefits to both.

Absent this action, UNFI’s unlawful conduct will continue unremedied and uncorrected.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(Violation 0f California Labor Code § 2802)

(Subclass A)

17. Plaintiff, and members 0f the proposed Subclasses, reallcge and incorporate by

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

18. California Labor Code section 2802 provides that an employer “shall indemnify

his or her employee for all necessary expenditures or losses incurred by the employee in direct

consequence of the discharge of his or her duties, . .
.”

19. Plaintiff, and other delivery drivers, used their personal cell phones t0 make and

receive work-related calls. UNFI either did not reimburse Plaintiff, and other delivery drivers,

for any of the costs of using their personal cell phones for work 0r provide, inadequate

reimbursement.

20. Plaintiff, and other delivery drivers, have suffered damages as a direct

consequence ofUNFI’s failure to comply with Labor Code section 2802 and they seek

reimbursement for the expenditures they incurred in direct consequence 0f the discharge 0f their

duties in an amount according t0 proof at time of trial with interest thereon, costs, applicable

civil penalties and attorney’s fees as set forth below.

21. Plaintiff and proposed members of Subclass A are therefore entitled to the relief

requested below.
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Failure To Provide Rest And Meal Breaks As Required by 
Labor Code Sections 226.7 And 512 And Applicable Wage Orders) 

(Subclass A) 

22. Plaintiff and the proposed Subclass members incorporate by reference the 

allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs of this complaint as if fully set forth herein. 

23. During all relevant periods, UNFI failed to take any action to provide Plaintiff an 

other delivery drivers with rest or meal breaks. UNFI likewise did not pay Plaintiff or other 

delivery drivers an additional hour of compensation if Plaintiff or the other delivery drivers did 

not receive the required rest and meal breaks. This failure violated California Labor Code 

sections 226.7 and 512. Given these failures, UNFI also did not provide Plaintiff and the other 

delivery drivers with accurate wage statements, in that the wage statements did not set forth all 

compensation earned in violation of California Labor Code section 226. 

24. As a result of UNFI' s failures, Plaintiff and the other delivery drivers are entitled 

to recover the additional hour of compensation as set forth in California Labor Code section 226. 

and damages and penalties as allowed under section 226, and other applicable Labor Code 

provisions. 

25. Plaintiff and the members of the proposed Subclasses members are therefore 

entitled to the relief requested below. 

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Failure to Provide Accurate, Itemized Wage Statements 
Labor Code Section 226(a)) 

(Subclasses A & B) 

26. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by 

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

27. Labor Code section 226(a) provides that employers shall provide accurate 

itemized statements showing, among other things, "gross wages earned," "total hours worked," 

"net wages earned," and "the name of the employee and only the last four digits of his or her 
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SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION

(Failure To Provide Rest And Meal Breaks As Required by
Labor Code Sections 226.7 And 512 And Applicable Wage Orders)

(Subclass A)

22. Plaintiff and the proposed Subclass members incorporate by reference the

allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs ofthis complaint as if fully set forth herein.

23. During all relevant periods, UNFI failed t0 take any action to provide Plaintiffand

other delivery drivers with rest or meal breaks. UNFI likewise did not pay Plaintiff or other

delivery drivers an additional hour 0f compensation if Plaintiff or the other delivery drivers did

not receive the required rest and meal breaks. This failure violated California Labor Code

sections 226.7 and 5 12. Given these failures, UNFI also did not provide Plaintiff and the other

delivery drivers with accurate wage statements, in that the wage statements did not set forth all

compensation earned in Violation of California Labor Code section 226.

24. As a result of UNFI’s failures, Plaintiff and the other delivery drivers are entitled

to recover the additional hour of compensation as set forth in California Labor Code section 226.”

and damages and penalties as allowed under section 226, and other applicable Labor Code

provisions.

25. Plaintiff and the members 0f the proposed Subclasses members are therefore

entitled to the relief requested below.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION

(Failure t0 Provide Accurate, Itemized Wage Statements
Labor Code Section 226(a))

(Subclasses A & B)

26. Plaintiff and members 0f the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

27. Labor Code section 226(a) provides that employers shall provide accurate

itemized statements showing, among other things, “gross wages earned,” “total hours worked,”

“net wages earned,” and “the name of the employee and only the last four digits of his 0r her
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social security number or an employee identification number other than a social security 

number." 

28. UNFI failed to provide timely, accurate, itemized wage statements to Plaintiff, 

and those members of proposed Subclasses A & B, in accordance with Labor Code section 

226(a). In particular, with respect to Subclass A, the wage statements UNFI provided Plaintiff, 

and the other delivery drivers, do not accurately reflect the actual gross or net wages earned and, 

for part of the class period, did not reflect all hours worked. The wage statements were also 

inaccurate because UNFI did not pay the additional hour of compensation for missed rest or 

meal breaks or properly calculate the regular rate of pay thereby inaccurately calculating 

overtime compensation. With respect to Subclass B, UNFI did not set forth either the 

employees' last four digits of their social security numbers of employee identification number 

in violation of Labor Code section 226(a)(7). 

29. UNFI' s failure to comply with Labor Code section 226(a) was, and continues to 

be, knowing and intentional. Although, as alleged herein, UNFI was aware that, for part of the 

pertinent time period, that Plaintiff, and the other delivery drivers, worked hours for which they 

received no regular or overtime compensation and these hours were not listed on wage 

statements, and for the entire proposed class period Plaintiff and other similarly situated deliver 

drivers did not receive meal and rest breaks, or compensation for same, and the regular rate of 

pay did not include all remuneration for delivery drivers, UNFI systematically failed to include 

this information on the wage statements. UNFI was also aware that the employees' last four 

digits of their social security numbers, or employee identification numbers, do not appear on 

wage statements. As a result, Plaintiff, and those similarly situated in both Subclasses A & B, 

suffered actual damages. 

30. Defendant is liable to Plaintiff, and those in both Subclasses A & B, for all 

recovery allowed pursuant to Labor Code sections 226(e) and 226.3, with interest thereon, and 

penalties as provided in the Labor Code. Furthermore, Plaintiffs and the proposed subclasses 

are entitled to an award of attorneys' fees and costs as set forth below. 

31. Plaintiff and Subclass members are therefore entitled to the relief requested below. 
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social security number 0r an employee identification number other than a social security

number.”

28. UNFI failed to provide timely, accurate, itemized wage statements to Plaintiff,

and those members of proposed Subclasses A & B, in accordance with Labor Code section

226(a). In particular, with respect t0 Subclass A, the wage statements UNFI provided Plaintiff,

and the other delivery drivers, d0 not accurately reflect the actual gross or net wages earned and,

for part 0f thc class period, did not reflect all hours worked. Thc wage statements were also

inaccurate because UNFI did not pay the additional hour of compensation for missed rest 0r

meall breaks or properly calculate the regular rate 0f pay thereby inaccurately calculating

overtime compensation. With respect to Subclass B, UNFI did not sct forth either the

employees’ last four digits 0ftheir social security numbers of employee identification number

in violation of Labor Code section 226(a)(7).

29. UNFI’s failure to comply with Labor Code section 226(a) was, and continues to

be, knowing and intentional. Although, as alleged herein, UNFI was aware that, for pan 0f the

pertinent time period, that Plaintiff, and the other delivery drivers, worked hours for which they

received no regular or overtime compensation and these hours were not listed on wage

statements, and for the entire proposed class period Plaintiff and other similarly situated deliver

drivers did not receive meal and rest breaks, or compensation for same, and the regular rate of

pay did not include all remuneration for delivery drivers, UNFI systematically failed to include

this information on the wage statements. UNFI was also aware that the employees’ last four

digits Oftheir social security numbers, or employee identification numbers, d0 not appear 0n

wage statements. As a result, Plaintiff, and those similarly situated in both Subclasses A & B,

suffered actual damages.

30. Defendant is liable to Plaintiff, and those in both Subclasses A & B, for all

recovery allowed pursuant to Labor Code sections 226(6) and 226.3, with interest thereon, and

penalties as prévided in the Labor Code. Furthermore, Plaintiffs and the proposed subclasses

are entitled t0 an award 0f attorneys’ fees and costs as set forth below.

3 1. Plaintiff and Subclass members are therefore entitled t0 the relief requested below.
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Failure to Pay Regular and Overtime Wages Pursuant to 
Labor Code Sections 510, 558, and 1194) 

(Subclass A) 

32. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by 

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

32. During portions of the relevant time period, UNFI did not pay Plaintiff, and 

other similarly situated delivery drivers, for all hours worked or overtime compensation due. 

Defendant required Plaintiff and other delivery drivers to work in excess of 8 hours per day and 

40 hours per week but did not provide regular or overtime compensation for the additional 

hours for the work performed. In addition, UNFI did not include all remuneration when 

calculating the regular rate of pay, thereby not paying the accurate overtime rate when it did pay 

overtime compensation. 

33. During all relevant periods, both the California Labor Code and the pertinent 

Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders required that employers pay employees for all 

hours worked and that all work performed by an employee in excess of 8 hours per day and 40 

hours per week be compensated at no less than one and one-half times the employee's regular 

rate of pay. UNFI failed to pay for all hours worked and failed to pay overtime wages for all 

overtime hours worked and failed to include all compensation when calculating the regular rate 

of pay and overtime rates of pay, and therefore failed to compensate Plaintiff, and other 

similarly situated delivery drivers, for all hours they worked. As a result, UNFI failed to pay 

Plaintiff, and similarly situated employees, earned regular and overtime wages, failed to 

properly calculate overtime compensation, and failed to provide Plaintiff and similarly situated 

delivery drivers with accurate wage statements as required by California Labor Code sections 

226 and keep records as required by section 1174. Plaintiff and Subclass A members are 

entitled to recover their unpaid regular and overtime compensation and penalties arising 

therefrom. 

34. Plaintiff and Subclass members are therefore entitled to the relief requested below. 
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FOURTH CAUSE OF ACTION

(Failure t0 Pay Regular and Overtime Wages Pursuant t0

Labor Code Sections 510, 558, and 1194)

(Subclass A)

32. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

32. During portions ofthe relevant time period, UNFI did not pay Plaintiff, and

other similarly situated delivery drivers, for all hours worked 0r overtime compensation due.

Defendant required Plaintiff and other delivery drivers t0 work in excess 0f 8 hours per day and

40 hours per week but did not provide regular 0r overtime compensation for the additional

hours for the work performed. In addition, UNFI did not include all remuneration when

calculating the regular rate of pay, thereby not paying the accurate overtime rate when it did pay

overtime compensation.

33. During all rclcvant periods, both the California Labor Code and the pertinent

Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders required that employers pay employees for all

hours worked and that all work performed by an employee in excess of 8 hours per day and 40

hours per week be compensated at n0 less than one and one-half times the employee’s regular

rate 0f pay. UNFI failed to pay for all hours worked and failed l0 pay overtime wages for all

overtime hours worked and failed to include all compensation when calculating the regular rate

0f pay and overtime rates of pay, and therefore failed to compensate Plaintiff, and other

similarly situated delivery drivers, for all hours they worked. As a result, UNFI failed to pay

Plaintiff, and similarly situated employees, eamed regular and ovenime wages, failed to

properly calculate overtime compensation, and failed to provide Plaintiff and similarly situated

delivery drivers with accurate wage statements as required by California Labor Code sections

226 and keep records as required by section 1174. Plaintiff and Subclass A members are

entitled t0 recover their unpaid regular and overtime compensation and penalties arising

therefrom.

34. Plaintiff and Subclass members are therefore entitled t0 the rclicf requested below.
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION -

(Failure to Pay Wages When Due Pursuant to 
California Labor Code §§ 201, 202, 203, 204, 204b) 

(Subclass A) 

35. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by 

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

36. During all relevant periods, California Labor Code section 204 required that: 

"labor" performed by a semi-monthly paid employee shall be paid for no later than between the 

16th and the 26th of the month for labor performed between the Pt and the 15th of the month or 

between the 1st and the 10th day of the following month for labor performed between the 16th 

and the last day of the month. Labor Code section 204b also provides that "labor" performed by 

a weekly employee during any calendar week, and prior to or on the regular payday shall be 

paid for not later than the regular payday of the employer for such weekly-paid employer. 

Labor Code section 200 states that 'wages' includes all amounts for labor performed by 

employees of every description..." and 'labor' includes labor, work, or service whether 

rendered or performed under contract. ..or other agreement if the labor to be paid for is 

performed personally by the person demanding payment." 

37. For portions of the pertinent time period, Plaintiff, and those similarly situated 

delivery drivers, were required to work in excess of 8 hours in a day and 40 hours a week for 

which UNFI did not pay compensation. In addition, UNFI did not pay the additional hour of 

compensation when Plaintiff and those similarly situated delivery drivers did not get rest or 

meal breaks. UNFI also did not include all remuneration when calculating the regular rate of 

pay for purposed of determining the appropriate rate of pay for overtime hours worked. 

Because of these failures, UNFI did not timely pay all wages due as required by Labor Code 

sections 204 and 204b and did not pay all wages due upon termination for in violation of 

California Labor Code sections 201, 202 and 203. 

38. Plaintiff and Subclass members are therefore entitled to the relief requested below. 
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FIFTH CAUSE OF ACTION'

(Failure t0 Pay Wages When Due Pursuant t0

California Labor Code §§ 201, 202, 203, 204, 204b)

(Subclass A)

35. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

36. During all relevant periods, California Labor Code section 204 required that:

“labor” performed by a semi-monthly paid employee shall bc paid for n0 later than between the

16th and the 26th 0f the month for labor performed between the 1“ and the 15‘“ of the month or

between the 15‘ and the 10th day 0f the following month for labor performed between the 16‘“

and the last day ofthe month. Labor Code section 204b also provides that “labor” performed by

a weekly employee during any calendar week, and prior to 0r 0n the regular payday shall be

paid for not later than the regular payday 0f the employer for such weekly-paid employer.

Labor Code section 200 states tha “‘wages’ includes all amounts for labor performed by

employees 0f every description. .
.” and “‘labor’ includes labor, work, 0r service whether

rendered or performed under contract. . .or other agreement if the labor t0 be paid for is

performed personally by the person demanding payment.”

37. For portions 0f the pertinent time period, Plaintiff, and those similarly situated

delivery drivers, were required t0 work in excess of 8 hours in a day and 40 hours a week for

which UNFI did not pay compensation. In addition, UNFI did not pay thc additional hour of

compensation when Plaintiff and those similarly situated delivery drivers did not get rest 0r

meal breaks. UNFI also did not include all remuneration when calculating the regular rate 0f

pay for purposed 0f determining the appropriate rate 0f pay for overtime hours worked.

Because 0f these failures, UNFI did not timely pay all wages due as required by Labor Code

sections 204 and 204b and did not pay all wages due upon termination for in Violation of

California Labor Code sections 201, 202 and 203.

38. Plaintiff and Subclass members are therefore entitled t0 the relief requested below.
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SIXTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Unlawful, Unfair and Fraudulent Business Practices Pursuant 
To Business & Professions Code Section 17200, et Eg,) 

(Subclasses A & B) 

39. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by 

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 

40. California Business & Professions Code section 17200, et seq. prohibits acts of 

unfair competition, which shall mean and include any "unlawful business act or practice." 

41. The policies, acts and practices heretofore described were and are unlawful 

business acts or practices because UNFI failed to pay regular and overtime wages at the lawful 

rate, failed to pay wages for regular and overtime hours worked, failed to provide accurate and 

timely wage statements, and failed to reimburse employees for costs associated with performing 

their jobs in violation of applicable Labor Code sections, including but not limited to California 

Labor Code sections 201-204b, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 558, 1174, 1194, 2802, applicable 

Industrial Wdfare Commission Wage Orders, the Labor Code Private Attorney General Act of 

2004 ("PAGA"), California Labor Code section 2698, et seq., and other provisions of California 

common and/or statutory law. Plaintiff reserves the right to allege additional statutory and 

common law violations by Defendants. Such conduct is ongoing to this date. 

42. The policies, acts or practices described herein were and are an unfair business 

act or practice because any justifications for UNFI' s illegal and wrongful conduct were and are 

vastly outweighed by the harm such conduct caused Plaintiff, the proposed class members, and 

the members of the general public. Such conduct is ongoing to this date. 

43. Plaintiff and Subclass members are therefore entitled to the relief requested below. 

SEVENTH CAUSE OF ACTION 

(Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004: Labor Code Sec. 2698) 

(Subclasses A & B) 

44. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by 

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein. 
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SIXTH CAUSE 0F ACTION

(Unlawful, Unfair and Fraudulent Business Practices Pursuant
T0 Business & Professions Code Section 17200, e_t seg.)

(Subclasses A & B)

39. Plaintiff and members 0f the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

40. California Business & Professions Code section 17200, e_t fl: prohibits acts 0f

unfair competition, which shall mean and include any “unlawful business act 0r practice.”

41. The policies, acts and practices heretofore described were and arc unlawful

business acts 0r practices because UNFI failed t0 pay regular and overtime wages at the lawful

rate, failed to pay wages for regular and overtime hoilrs worked, failed t0 provide accurate and

timely wage statements, and failed to reimburse employees for costs associated with performing

their jobs in Violation of applicable Labor Code sections, including but not limited to California

Labor Code sections 201-204b, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 558, 1174, 1194, 2802, applicable

Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders, the Labor Code Private Attorney General Act of

2004 (“PAGA”), California Labor Code section 2698, e_t m” and other provisions of California

common and/or statutory law. Plaintiff reserves the right to allege additional statutory and

common law Violations by Defendants. Such conduct is ongoing to this date.

42. The policies, acts or practices described herein were and are an unfair business

act 0r practice because any justifications for UNFI’s illegal and wrongful conduct were and are

vastly outweighed by the harm such conduct caused Plaintiff, the proposed class members, and

the members of the general public. Such conduct is ongoing t0 this date.

43. Plaintiff and Subclass members are therefore entitled to the relief requested below.

SEVENTH CAUSE 0F ACTION

(Labor Code Private Attorneys General Act of 2004: Labor Code Sec. 2698)

(Subclasses A & B)

44. Plaintiff and members of the proposed Subclasses reallege and incorporate by

reference the allegations contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
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45. The policies, acts and practices heretofore described were and are unlawful 

because UNFI's failure to provide employees rest and meal breaks; failure to pay employees 

compensation for work without meal and rest periods; failure to timely pay employees for all 

hours worked and to timely pay all wages and overtime compensation due; failure to include all 

remuneration in the regular rate of pay; failure to reimburse employees for all expenses incurred; 

and, failure to provide accurate itemized wage statements to Plaintiff and other similarly situated 

aggrieved employees violates applicable Labor Code sections and gives rise to statutory and civil 

penalties as a result of such conduct, including but not limited to penalties as provided by Labor 

Code sections 201, 202, 203, 204, 204b, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 1174, 1194, 2698, 2699(f), and 

2699.5, and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders. Plaintiff, as an aggrieved 

employee, hereby seeks recovery of civil penalties as prescribed by the Labor Code Private 

Attorney General Act of 2004 on behalf of himself and other current and former employees of 

UNFI against whom one or more of the violations of the Labor Code was committed. 

46. On February 23, 2018, Plaintiff gave written notice to the California Labor and 

Workforce Development Agency by online submission through their website and by certified 

mail to United Natural Foods, Inc. dba UNFI, of Labor Code violations as prescribed by 

California Labor Code section 2699.3. Plaintiff has not received written notification by the 

LWDA of an intention to investigate the allegations set forth in Plaintiffs letter or written notice 

of an intent to cure, as prescribed by California Labor Code section 2699.3. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for relief as follows: 

1. An order certifying that the action may be maintained as a class action; 

2. Compensatory and statutory damages, penalties and restitution, as appropriate 

and available under each cause of action in an amount to be proven at trial; 

3. Reasonable attorneys' fees pursuant to Labor Code sections 226, 1194, 2802 and 

2699; 

4. Treble damages if Defendants fail to pay the determined amount pursuant to 

Labor Code section 206; 
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45. The policies, acts and practices heretofore described were and are unlawful

because UNFl’s failure to provide employees rest and meal breaks; failure t0 pay employees

compensation for work without meal and rest periods; failure t0 timely pay employees for all

hours worked and t0 timely pay all wages and overtime compensation due; failure t0 include all

remuneration in the regular rate ofpay; failure t0 reimburse employees for all expenses incurred;

and, failure to provide accurate itemized wage statements to Plaintiff and other similarly situated

aggrieved employees violates applicable Labor Code sections and gives rise t0 statutory and civil

penalties as a result 0f such conduct, including but not limited t0 penalties as provided by Labor

Code sections 201, 202, 203, 204, 204b, 226, 226.7, 510, 512, 1174, 1194, 2698, 2699(f), and

2699.5, and applicable Industrial Welfare Commission Wage Orders. Plaintiff, as an aggrieved

employee, hereby seeks recovery of civil penalties as prescribed by the Labor Code Private

Attorney General Act 0f2004 on behalf 0f himself and other current and former employees 0f

UNFI against whom one 0r more 0f the Violations 0f the Labor Code was committed.

46. On February 23, 2018, Plaintiff gave written notice t0 the California Labor and

Workforce Development Agency by online submission through their website and by certified

mail t0 United Natural Foods, Inc. dba UNFI, 0f Labor Code Violations as prescribed by

California Labor Code section 2699.3. Plaintiff has not received written notification by the

LWDA 0f an intention t0 investigate the allegations set forth in Plaintiff s letter 0r written no'tice

0f an intent t0 cure, as prescribed by California Labor Code section 2699.3.

PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffprays for relief as follows:

1. An order certifying that the action may be maintained as a class action;

2. Compensatory and statutory damages, penalties and restitution, as appropriate

and available under each cause ofaction in an amount to be proven at trial;

3. Reasonable attorneys’ fees pursuant to Labor Code sections 226, 1194, 2802 and

2699;

4. Treble damages if Defendants fail to pay the determined amount pursuant t0

Labor Code section 206;
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5. Costs of this suit; 

6. Pre- and post judgment interest. 

JURY DEMAND 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury. 

Date: June 15, 2018 W, RK i AN LAW FIR C 

By: 
in ►■or 

Attorneys for Plaintiff Richard Cortez, and 
all others similarly situated 
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5. Costs of this suit;

6. Pre- and post—judgment interest.

JURY DEMAND
Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.

Date: June 15, 2018

in . or

Attorneysfor Plaintig‘f Richard Cortez, and
all others similarly situated
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MORGAN, LEWIS z 8 
BOCKIUSLLP 

ATIORNEYS AT LAW 

SAN FRANCISCO 

MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCK.IDS LLP 
John S. Battenfeld, Bar No. 1 1 9 5 1 3  
300 South Grand Avenue 
Twenty-Second Floor 
Los Angeles, California 90071 
Tel: + 1 .2 13 .6 12 .2500 
Fax: + 1 . 2 1 3 . 6 12 .250 1  
john. battenfeld@morganlewis.com 

MORGAN, LEWIS & BOCK.IDS LLP 
Andrea Fellion, Bar No. 262278 
One Market 
Spear Street Tower 
San Francisco, CA 94105-1596 
Tel: +1 .415 .442 . 1000 
Fax: + 1 .4 15 .442 . 1001  
andrea.fellion@morganlewis.com 

Attorneys for Defendants 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC. 
UNITED NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC. 

SALVADOR GUERRA, individually 
and on behalf of other members of the 
general public similarly situated and on 
behalf of other a_ggrieved employees 
pursuant to the Ca1ifomia Private 
Attorneys General Act, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

UNITED NATURAL FOODS, INC., an 
unknown business en!ity; UNITED 
NATURAL FOODS WEST, INC., a 
California corporation; UNFI, an 
unknown business entity; and DOES 1 

through 100,  inclusive, 

Defendants. 

Case No. 

DECLARATION OF ANNE­ 
MARIE MOSHER IN SUPPORT 
OF DEFENDANTS' NOTICE 
OF REMOVAL 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

CENTRAL DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 
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I, Anne-Marie Mosher, declare, under penalty of perjury and pursuant to 28 

U.S.C. § 1746, that the following is true and correct: 

1 .  I  am the National Payroll Services Manager for Defendant United 

Natural Foods, Inc. ("UNFI") and its subsidiaries, and my office is located at 1 

Albion Road in Lincoln, Rhode Island. 

2. I am authorized to execute this declaration and am competent to testify 

as to the matters contained in it based on my personal knowledge. 

3 .  I  have been UNFI's National Payroll Services Manager for more than 

eight years. As part of my duties, I have access to payroll and Human Resources 

data, including ADP Enterprise, Version 5 and ADP e-Time, Version 6 for 

Defendant UNFI and Defendant United Natural Foods West, Inc. ("Defendants"). 

Using this data, which includes employee dates of employment, names, position, 

classification, termination date (if applicable), and final pay rate, I compiled and 

reviewed a summary report for all employees employed in California from 

September 1 3 ,  2014 through September 1 3 ,  20 18  in positions classified as non­ 

exempt. 

4. Based on my review of the data, 3,925 non-exempt employees were 

employed in California from September 1 3 ,  2014  through September 1 3 ,  2018 .  At 

least 1 ,  178  non-exempt California employees terminated their employment between 

September 1 3 ,  20 15  through September 1 3 ,  20 1 8 .  During this three-year period, 

separated non-exempt employees had an average final hourly pay rate of 

approximately $17 . 35 .  

5 .  Defendants' non-exempt, employees have been paid weekly since 

January 1 3 ,  2017 .  

I l l  

I l l  

I l l  

I l l  
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6. During the one-year period of September 1 3 ,  2017  to September 1 3 ,  

20 18 ,  Defendants issued weekly wage statements 53 times. During this period, the 

highest number of weekly wage statements Defendants issued to non-exempt 

California employees was 1 ,824 and the lowest number was 1 ,085 .  

I  declare under penalty of perjury under the laws of the United States that the 

foregoing is true and correct. 

Executed on November 8, 20 18  at/ d.&>cvl/ � �//V'e'�:L../t/ � 
......----; / 

��,�· 
Anne-Mane Mos er 

2 
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